Regular Article - Theoretical Physics

A complete set of Lorentz-invariant wave packets and modified uncertainty relation

Kin-ya Oda^{1,a}, Juntaro Wada^{2,b}

¹ Department of Mathematics, Tokyo Woman's Christian University, Tokyo 167-8585, Japan

² Department of Physics, University of Tokyo, Tokyo 113-0033, Japan

Received: 10 April 2021 / Accepted: 24 July 2021 / Published online: 20 August 2021 © The Author(s) 2021

Abstract We define a set of fully Lorentz-invariant wave packets and show that it spans the corresponding one-particle Hilbert subspace, and hence the whole Fock space as well, with a manifestly Lorentz-invariant completeness relation (resolution of identity). The position–momentum uncertainty relation for this Lorentz-invariant wave packet deviates from the ordinary Heisenberg uncertainty principle, and reduces to it in the non-relativistic limit.

Contents

1	Introduction	1				
2	Gaussian basis and coherent states	2				
	2.1 Plane-wave basis	2				
	2.2 Lorentz-friendly bases	4				
	2.3 Gaussian basis	7				
	2.4 Coherent states	8				
3	Lorentz-invariant wave packet	9				
	3.1 Normalization	10				
	3.2 Inner product	10				
	3.3 Wave function	11				
4	Uncertainty relations	13				
	4.1 Momentum (co)variance	13				
	4.2 Position (co)variance	15				
	4.3 Uncertainty relation	16				
	4.4 Time–energy uncertainty	16				
5	Completeness of Lorentz-invariant basis	17				
6	Summary and discussion	18				
A	ppendix A: More on coherent states	19				
A	pendix B: Master integral	19				
	B.1 Evaluation of master integral	20				
	B.2 Derivative of master integral					
	B.3 Integral of master integral	21				

^a e-mail: odakin@lab.twcu.ac.jp (corresponding author)

B.3.1 Saddle		. 22			
B.3.2 Non-relativistic expansion without using					
saddle		. 25			
References		. 26			

1 Introduction

Wave packets are one of the most fundamental building blocks of quantum field theory. We never observe a plane-wave state of, say, zero and infinite uncertainties of momentum and position, respectively. The plane-wave construction necessarily yields a square of the energy-momentum delta function in the probability, which hence is always divergent and is *more a mnemonic than a derivation* (quoted from Sect. 3.4 in textbook [1]).

However, so far, it has been widely believed that there are no intrinsically new phenomena appearing from a wave-packet construction, but recent developments imply that it might play important roles in vast areas of science; see e.g. the references in the Introduction in Ref. [2].

Up to now, the wave-packet S-matrix has been computed using a complete basis of Gaussian wave-packets; see e.g. Refs. [2–5]. The Gaussian basis is constructed from a Gaussian wave packet that evolves in time t as $e^{-i\sqrt{m^2+p^2t}}$ for each plane-wave mode p, and is not manifestly Lorentz covariant nor invariant. To fully exploit the Lorentz covariance of S-matrix in quantum field theory, it is desirable to have a complete basis of *Lorentz-invariant* wave packets. This is what we propose in this paper.

Here we stress the viewpoint that the Gaussian basis is equivalent to a complete set of coherent states in the position– momentum phase space (see Refs. [6-10] and the references therein for works on coherent states in the context of the rel-



^be-mail: wada-juntaro@g.ecc.u-tokyo.ac.jp

ativistic quantum mechanics¹). Guided by this equivalence, we develop the complete basis of Lorentz-invariant wave packets which is directly applicable in quantum field theory.

Our proposal is also inspired by the "relativistic Gaussian packet" [16,17] developed by Naumov and Naumov (see also Refs. [18–20]), and can be viewed as its generalization to form the complete set: From this viewpoint, our work can be interpreted as a new introduction of a spacetime center of wave packet as an independent variable, which is integrated over a spacelike hyperplane in the completeness relation along with a center of momentum.

It is worth mentioning that our Lorentz-invariant wave packet, when written in momentum space, is essentially the same as the one proposed in Refs. [6,7]. What is new in this paper in this respect is that we have also defined the wave function in position space and have computed it into an explicit closed form. Thanks to this, we can consider various limits to develop physical intuition. The momentum uncertainty we obtained is in agreement with that in Refs. [6,7], whereas the expectation value and uncertainty of the position on a constant time slice are obtained for the first time in this paper.

The organization of this paper is as follows: In Sect. 2, we review the plane-wave basis and the Gaussian basis, as well as the equivalence of the latter to the coherent basis, in order to spell out our notation. In Sect. 3, we present the Lorentz-invariant wave packet that we propose. In Sect. 4, we show the uncertainty relation on this state. In particular, we show that the position-momentum uncertainty deviates from that of the Heisenberg uncertainty principle, while the former reduces to the latter in the non-relativistic limit. In Sect. 5, we prove that these Lorentz invariant wave packets form a complete basis and that the completeness relation can be written in manifestly Lorentz-invariant fashion. As an example, we also show how a scalar field is expanded by this basis of Lorentz-invariant wave packets. In Appendix A, we show some of the known facts on the coherent states. In Appendix B, we present detailed computations for integrals that we encounter in the main text.

2 Gaussian basis and coherent states

Here in order to spell out our notation, we review basic known facts about the plane-wave basis and the Gaussian one, as well as the equivalence of the latter to the coherent one in the position–momentum space.

2.1 Plane-wave basis

We work in D = d+1 dimensional flat spacetime with a metric convention (-, +, ..., +) such that $e^{ip \cdot x} = e^{-ip^0 x^0 + ip \cdot x}$ and $p^2 = -(p^0)^2 + p^2$, where $p_0 = -p^0$ and a bold letter denotes a *d*-vector $p = (p^1, ..., p^d) = (p_1, ..., p_d)$, etc. Here and hereafter, $x = (x^0, x)$ are coordinates in an arbitrary reference frame. When *p* is on-shell, $p^2 = -m^2$, $p^0 = E_p := \sqrt{p^2 + m^2}$, and $e^{ip \cdot x} = e^{-iE_p x^0 + ip \cdot x}$. Throughout this paper, we take the number of spatial dimensions $d \ge 2$, all the momenta to be on-shell, and all the particles to be massive m > 0, unless otherwise stated. In particular, we use both of $p^0 = E_p$ (and of $P^0 = E_P$ appearing below) interchangeably.

In this paper, we focus on a free real scalar field that can be expanded in the Schrödinger picture as

$$\widehat{\phi}(\mathbf{x}) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d \mathbf{p}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}} \sqrt{2E_p}} \left(\widehat{a}_p e^{i\mathbf{p}\cdot\mathbf{x}} + \widehat{a}_p^{\dagger} e^{-i\mathbf{p}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \right), \tag{1}$$

where \hat{a}_{p}^{\dagger} and \hat{a}_{p} are the creation and annihilation operators that obey

$$\left[\widehat{a}_{\boldsymbol{p}},\,\widehat{a}_{\boldsymbol{p}'}^{\dagger}\right] = \delta^d \left(\boldsymbol{p} - \boldsymbol{p}'\right) \widehat{1}, \quad \text{others} = 0, \tag{2}$$

where $\widehat{1}$ is the identity operator on the whole Hilbert space, namely the Fock space $\mathcal{H} = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} S\left[L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)\right]^{\otimes n}$ with *S* and $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ being the symmetrization and the free one-particle momentum space, respectively. On this space, the free Hamiltonian $\widehat{H}_{\text{free}}$ can be expressed as

$$\widehat{H}_{\text{free}} = \int d^d \boldsymbol{p} \, E_{\boldsymbol{p}} \widehat{a}_{\boldsymbol{p}}^{\dagger} \widehat{a}_{\boldsymbol{p}} \tag{3}$$

up to a constant term. Similarly, the generator of the translation in the free theory is

$$\widehat{\boldsymbol{P}}_{\text{free}} = \int \mathrm{d}^d \boldsymbol{p} \, \boldsymbol{p} \, \widehat{a}_p^{\dagger} \widehat{a}_p. \tag{4}$$

In the interaction picture,²

$$\widehat{\phi}(x) = e^{i\widehat{H}_{\text{free}}x^{0}}\widehat{\phi}(x) e^{-i\widehat{H}_{\text{free}}x^{0}}$$
$$= \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}p}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}\sqrt{2E_{p}}} \left(\widehat{a}_{p}e^{ip\cdot x} + \widehat{a}_{p}^{\dagger}e^{-ip\cdot x}\right), \qquad (5)$$

where $p^0 = E_p = \sqrt{p^2 + m^2}$ as always.

¹ It is well known that relativistic quantum mechanics is pathological and that quantum field theory is needed to remedy it; see e.g. Refs. [11–15] and the references therein for related discussions; we clarify our standpoint in Sect. 2.

² Throughout this paper, all the operators other than $\hat{\phi}(x)$, $\hat{\psi}(x)$, and $\hat{A}_{\mu}(x)$ are time-independent ones in the Schrödinger picture, unless otherwise stated.

We are focusing on the real scalar field in this paper because it is straightforward to generalize it to spinor and vector fields: We may expand these fields (in the interaction picture) as

$$\widehat{\psi}(x) = \sum_{s} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} \boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}} \sqrt{2E_{\boldsymbol{p}}}} \times \left(\widehat{a}_{\boldsymbol{p},s} e^{i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}} u(\boldsymbol{p},s) + \widehat{a}_{\boldsymbol{p},s}^{c\dagger} e^{-i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}} v(\boldsymbol{p},s)\right), \quad (6)$$

$$\widehat{A}_{\mu}(x) = \sum_{s} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{a} \boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}} \sqrt{2E_{\boldsymbol{p}}}} \times \left(\widehat{a}_{\boldsymbol{p},s} e^{i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}} \epsilon_{\mu}(\boldsymbol{p},s) + \widehat{a}_{\boldsymbol{p},s}^{\dagger} e^{-i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}} \epsilon_{\mu}^{*}(\boldsymbol{p},s)\right)$$
(7)

and may generalize the expressions below by the replacement $\hat{a}_{p} \rightarrow \hat{a}_{p,s}$, etc.³

Throughout this paper, we concentrate on the free oneparticle Hilbert subspace $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ that is spanned by the free one-particle momentum basis⁴ unless otherwise stated:

$$|\mathbf{p}\rangle = \hat{a}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\dagger} |0\rangle , \qquad (8)$$

where the vacuum $|0\rangle$ is defined by $\hat{a}_p |0\rangle = 0$. In the subspace $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, the completeness relation (the resolution of identity) reads

$$\int d^d \boldsymbol{p} | \boldsymbol{p} \rangle \langle \boldsymbol{p} | = \hat{1}; \tag{9}$$

here and hereafter, $\hat{1}$ is the identity operator on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. (Mass dimensions are $\left[\widehat{\phi}\right] = \frac{d-1}{2}$ and $\left[\widehat{a}_p\right] = \left[|p\rangle\right] = -\frac{d}{2}$.)

We may take an arbitrary spatial hyperplane Σ as the Fourier transform of the momentum space \mathbb{R}^d . More precisely, $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is identified to $L^2(\Sigma)$ through the Fourier transformation. Here, we take an arbitrary reference frame $x = (x^0, \mathbf{x})$, choose Σ to be the $(x^0 = 0)$ -hyperplane $\Sigma_{(0)}$, and define the one-particle position basis $|\mathbf{x}\rangle$ on $\Sigma_{(0)}$ by

$$\langle \boldsymbol{x} \mid \boldsymbol{p} \rangle := \frac{e^{i \boldsymbol{p} \cdot \boldsymbol{x}}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}}.$$
(10)

We stress that the Schrödinger-picture basis $|x\rangle$ already specifies the particular frame *x* such that the Minkowski space is foliated by the constant- x^0 spacelike hyperplanes and that the free one-particle Hilbert subspace is spanned on a Cauchy surface of a constant- x^0 hyperplane, which we have chosen to be $\Sigma_{(0)}$. We also define, on each constant- x^0 hyperplane $\Sigma_{(x^0)}$ under this foliation, a "one-particle interaction basis" $|x\rangle$ by

$$\langle x \mid \boldsymbol{p} \rangle := \frac{e^{i p \cdot x}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}} = \frac{e^{-i E_{\boldsymbol{p}} x^0 + i \, \boldsymbol{p} \cdot \boldsymbol{x}}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}}.$$
 (11)

Strictly speaking, $|x\rangle$ should be regarded as spanning the space $\mathcal{K}_{(x^0)}$ of positive-energy solutions to the Klein–Gordon equation at x^0 , given the initial data $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$ on the Cauchy surface $\Sigma_{(0)}$, whereas one would expect that this is equivalent to $L^2(\Sigma_{(x^0)})$ due to the time-translational invariance of the theory. Hereafter, we write $L^2(\Sigma_{(x^0)})$ but the cautious reader may recast it into $\mathcal{K}_{(x^0)}$.

We can define the formal momentum operator \hat{p} on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ by

$$\hat{p} | p \rangle := p | p \rangle, \qquad (12)$$

and the formal position operator \hat{x} as the generator of momentum translation on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ by⁵

$$\langle \boldsymbol{p} | \, \hat{\boldsymbol{x}} := i \, \nabla_{\boldsymbol{p}} \, \langle \boldsymbol{p} | \,, \tag{13}$$

where $(\nabla_p)_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial p^i}$. They satisfy the canonical commutator $[\hat{x}_i, \hat{p}_j] = i\delta_{ij}\hat{1}$, where $\hat{1}$ is the identity operator on the one-particle subspace $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ as said above. Since we have chosen $\Sigma_{(0)}$ to be the Fourier transform of the momentum space \mathbb{R}^d , we also obtain

$$\hat{\mathbf{x}} |\mathbf{x}\rangle = \mathbf{x} |\mathbf{x}\rangle \tag{14}$$

on $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$, which is consistent with Eqs. (10) and (13). We note that \hat{x} and $|x\rangle$ are the time-independent ones in the Schrödinger picture by construction; recall footnote 2.

Here we stress that the position and momentum bases $|\mathbf{x}\rangle$ and $|\mathbf{p}\rangle$ have infinite norms $\langle \mathbf{x} | \mathbf{x} \rangle = \infty$ and $\langle \mathbf{p} | \mathbf{p} \rangle = \infty$, respectively, so that they do not belong to $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ nor to $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$. We never realize $|\mathbf{x}\rangle$ nor $|\mathbf{p}\rangle$ in any physical experiment. The formal position and momentum operators $\hat{\mathbf{x}}$ and $\hat{\mathbf{p}}$

³ If one would define the position basis as $|x\rangle = \hat{\psi}^{\dagger}(x) |0\rangle$, etc., the "Lorentz-invariant wave function" should read the "Lorentz-covariant wave function" accordingly. The position basis for the anti-particle should read $|x, c\rangle = \hat{\psi}(x) |0\rangle$ in such a case.

⁴ Hereafter, a "basis" is used as an abbreviation of a "basis vector" or "basis state" of a Hilbert space, and denotes a state that can be regarded as an eigenstate of an operator that has proper time evolution in a given picture: Namely, a basis evolves as $|\phi\rangle$, $e^{i\hat{H}_{\text{free}}x^0}|\phi\rangle$, and $e^{i\hat{H}x^0}|\phi\rangle$ in the Schrödinger, interaction, and Heisenberg pictures, respectively, with $\hat{H} = \hat{H}_{\text{free}} + \hat{H}_{\text{int}}$. For example, $|p\rangle$ is a basis in the Schrödinger picture. Later, we will call, say, $|x\rangle$ the basis, even though it is not an eigenvector of a Hermitian operator but of a non-Hermitian one (43). See e.g. Refs. [21,22] for treatment of non-Hermitian operator.

⁵ As always, this is written as an operator relation that denotes, for any normalizable physical state $|\psi\rangle$, $\langle p | \hat{x} | \psi \rangle = i \nabla_p \langle p | \psi \rangle$. Strictly speaking, the eigenstates of \hat{x} and \hat{p} are not an element of $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$ and $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, respectively, hence the wording "formal"; see below for more discussion.

and their eigenbases $|x\rangle$ and $|p\rangle$, respectively, are mere mathematical tools to write down their expectation values basisindependently for any shape of normalizable wave packet $|\psi\rangle$ in $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$ or $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ as

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \hat{x}_i \rangle_{|\psi\rangle} &= \frac{\langle \psi | \hat{x}_i | \psi \rangle}{\langle \psi | \psi \rangle} = \frac{1}{\langle \psi | \psi \rangle} \int d^3 \boldsymbol{x} | \psi(\boldsymbol{x}) |^2 x_i \\ &= \frac{1}{\langle \psi | \psi \rangle} \int d^3 \boldsymbol{p} \, \psi^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{p}) \left(i \frac{\partial}{\partial p^i} \right) \psi(\boldsymbol{p}) \,, \end{aligned}$$
(15)

$$\langle \hat{p}_i \rangle_{|\psi\rangle} = \frac{\langle \psi | \hat{p}_i | \psi \rangle}{\langle \psi | \psi \rangle} = \frac{1}{\langle \psi | \psi \rangle} \int d^3 \boldsymbol{p} |\psi(\boldsymbol{p})|^2 p_i$$

= $\frac{1}{\langle \psi | \psi \rangle} \int d^3 \boldsymbol{x} \, \psi^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{x}) \left(-i \frac{\partial}{\partial x^i} \right) \psi(\boldsymbol{x}) ,$ (16)

where $\psi(\mathbf{x}) = \langle \mathbf{x} | \psi \rangle$, $\psi(\mathbf{p}) = \langle \mathbf{p} | \psi \rangle$, and $\langle \psi | \psi \rangle = \int d^3 \mathbf{x} |\psi(\mathbf{x})|^2 = \int d^3 \mathbf{p} |\psi(\mathbf{p})|^2 < \infty$. This fact of the non-normalizability of basis is indeed one of the motivations of the Gaussian construction and its Lorentz-invariant generalization presented in this paper.

The formal operator \hat{x} is first defined as the generator of momentum translation (13), and is associated with a particular foliation of spacetime through Eq. (14) such that $\Sigma_{(0)}$ is chosen as the Fourier transform of the momentum space \mathbb{R}^d via Eq. (10). Once this association with the position space is fixed, \hat{x} is tied to the particular reference frame, with its unit spatial volume $d^d x$ manifestly violating the Lorentz invariance. The position operator \hat{x} is *not* covariant by construction; see also Ref. [15] for a review on the Lorentz non-covariance from the point of view of relativistic quantum mechanics.

We may regard \hat{p} as a restriction of the momentum operator (4) to the free one-particle subspace $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$: Schematically,

$$\widehat{\boldsymbol{P}}_{\text{free}} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots \\ 0 & \widehat{\boldsymbol{p}} & 0 & \cdots \\ 0 & 0 & \ast & \cdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots \end{bmatrix} \text{ on } \begin{bmatrix} |0\rangle \\ 1 \text{-particle subspace} \\ \ast \\ \vdots \end{bmatrix}.$$
(17)

Similarly, when restricted to the one-particle subspace,

$$\hat{H}_{\text{free}} := \left. \widehat{H}_{\text{free}} \right|_{\text{on } L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)} = E_{\hat{p}} = \sqrt{m^2 + \hat{p}^2}.$$
(18)

It also follows that, on $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$,

$$\langle \boldsymbol{x} | \, \hat{\boldsymbol{p}} = -i \nabla \langle \boldsymbol{x} | \,, \quad \hat{\boldsymbol{p}} \, | \boldsymbol{x} \rangle = i \, | \boldsymbol{x} \rangle \, \overleftarrow{\nabla} \,,$$
 (19)

such that $\langle \mathbf{x} | \hat{\mathbf{p}} | \mathbf{p} \rangle = -i \nabla \langle \mathbf{x} | \mathbf{p} \rangle = -i \nabla \frac{e^{i \mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{x}}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}} = p \langle \mathbf{x} | \mathbf{p} \rangle$, with $\nabla_i := \partial/\partial x^i$.

We may relate the bases of $L^2(\Sigma_{(x^0)})$ and $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$ by

$$x\rangle = e^{iE_{\hat{p}}x^{0}} |\mathbf{x}\rangle.$$
⁽²⁰⁾

The position operator \hat{x} can be trivially extended to $L^2(\Sigma_{(x^0)})$:

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{x}} |x\rangle = \hat{\boldsymbol{x}} e^{iE_{\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}}x^0} |\boldsymbol{x}\rangle = \left(\boldsymbol{x} - \frac{\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}}{E_{\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}}}x^0\right) |x\rangle, \qquad (21)$$

where we used $[\hat{x}_i, f(\hat{p})] = i \frac{\partial f}{\partial p^i}(\hat{p})$. On $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$, the plane-wave normalization is⁶

$$\langle \mathbf{x} \mid \mathbf{x}' \rangle = \delta^d \left(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}' \right).$$
 (22)

We may also formally write down the inner product of bases of $L^2(\Sigma_{(x^0)})$ and of $L^2(\Sigma_{(x'^0)})$,

$$\langle x \mid x' \rangle = \int d^{d} \boldsymbol{p} \langle x \mid \boldsymbol{p} \rangle \langle \boldsymbol{p} \mid x' \rangle = \int \frac{d^{d} \boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi)^{d}} e^{i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot(\boldsymbol{x}-\boldsymbol{x}')}$$
$$= \int \frac{d^{d} \boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi)^{d}} e^{-iE_{\boldsymbol{p}}(x^{0}-\boldsymbol{x}'^{0})+i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot(\boldsymbol{x}-\boldsymbol{x}')}.$$
(23)

The completeness relations on $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$ and on $L^2(\Sigma_{(x^0)})$ are, respectively,

$$\int d^{d} \boldsymbol{x} | \boldsymbol{x} \rangle \langle \boldsymbol{x} | = \hat{1}, \quad \int d^{d} \boldsymbol{x} | \boldsymbol{x} \rangle \langle \boldsymbol{x} | = \hat{1}.$$
(24)

The mass dimensions are $[|x\rangle] = [|x\rangle] = \frac{d}{2}$.

2.2 Lorentz-friendly bases

From here we start to deviate from the standard notation in the literature. Our so-called "Lorentz-friendly basis" is essentially the same as the basis proposed by Newton and Wigner [11], which was later complemented in terms of the Euclidean group by Wightman [12].

⁶ In Refs. [13,14] it has been shown that (so-called) "strict localization", which requires a wave function $\psi(\mathbf{x}) = \langle \mathbf{x} | \psi \rangle$ in $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$ to vanish everywhere outside a finite region $V \subset \Sigma_{(0)}$, cannot be consistent with what the authors call "causality", which we will refer to as "Hegerfeldt causality". Hegerfeldt causality holds when the following is satisfied: If ψ is strictly localized to V, then there should exist r that makes $\langle \mathbf{x} | e^{-i\hat{H}_{\text{free}}x^0 + i\hat{\mathbf{p}}\cdot\mathbf{a}} | \psi \rangle = 0$ for all $\mathbf{x} \in V$ for all \mathbf{a} with $\mathbf{a} > r$ at any later time $x^0 > 0$. The authors have proven that Hegerfeldt causality is necessarily violated [13,14]. From Eq. (22), the position basis $|x'\rangle$, interpreted as a wave function of x in $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$ (closing our eyes on the fact that it cannot the case due to its non-normalizability), is strictly localized. Therefore, it obeys the proven violation of Hegerfeldt causality. On the other hand, both the Gaussian wave packet (58) and our extension (104) have exponentially small but non-zero tail outside any finite region V from the beginning on $\Sigma_{(0)}$ and later. Therefore, they evade the condition of strict localization of Hegerfeldt causality from the beginning.

We define a "Lorentz-friendly" annihilation operator on $\ensuremath{\mathcal{H}}$:

$$\widehat{\alpha}_p = \sqrt{2E_p} \, \widehat{a}_p,\tag{25}$$

which gives

$$\left[\widehat{\alpha}_{\boldsymbol{p}}, \,\widehat{\alpha}_{\boldsymbol{p}'}^{\dagger}\right] = 2E_{\boldsymbol{p}}\,\delta^d\left(\boldsymbol{p} - \boldsymbol{p}'\right)\widehat{1}, \quad \text{others} = 0, \tag{26}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{\phi}(x) &= \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} \boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}} 2E_{\boldsymbol{p}}} \left(\widehat{\alpha}_{\boldsymbol{p}} e^{i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}} + \widehat{\alpha}_{\boldsymbol{p}}^{\dagger} e^{-i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}} \right) \\ &= \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{D} \boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}} \delta(\boldsymbol{p}^{2} + \boldsymbol{m}^{2}) \,\theta(\boldsymbol{p}^{0}) \left(\widehat{\alpha}_{\boldsymbol{p}} e^{i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}} + \widehat{\alpha}_{\boldsymbol{p}}^{\dagger} e^{-i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}} \right), \quad (27) \end{aligned}$$

where the Lorentz invariance is made manifest in the last expression by letting p be off-shell.

We define a Lorentz-friendly momentum basis that spans $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$:

$$|\mathbf{p}\rangle\rangle := \widehat{\alpha}_{\mathbf{p}} |0\rangle = \sqrt{2E_{\mathbf{p}}} |\mathbf{p}\rangle \tag{28}$$

such that

$$\langle\!\!\langle \boldsymbol{p} \mid \boldsymbol{p}' \rangle\!\!\rangle = 2E_{\boldsymbol{p}} \,\delta^d \left(\boldsymbol{p} - \boldsymbol{p}' \right), \quad \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d \boldsymbol{p}}{2E_{\boldsymbol{p}}} \mid \boldsymbol{p} \rangle\!\rangle \,\langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{p} \mid = \hat{1}.$$
 (29)

Mass dimensions are $[\alpha_p] = [|p\rangle\rangle] = -\frac{d-1}{2}$. This completeness is the same as Eq. (1) in Ref. [11] up to the factor 2 (which will not be mentioned hereafter).

We also define Lorentz-friendly position bases in $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$ and in $L^2(\Sigma_{(x^0)})$, respectively:⁷

$$|\mathbf{x}\rangle\rangle := \widehat{\phi}(\mathbf{x}) |0\rangle = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} \mathbf{p}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}} 2E_{\mathbf{p}}} e^{-i\mathbf{p}\cdot\mathbf{x}} |\mathbf{p}\rangle\rangle, \qquad (30)$$

$$|x\rangle\rangle := \widehat{\phi}(x) |0\rangle = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} \boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}} 2E_{\boldsymbol{p}}} e^{-i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}} |\boldsymbol{p}\rangle\rangle.$$
(31)

The mass dimensions are $[|\mathbf{x}\rangle\rangle] = [|x\rangle\rangle] = \frac{d-1}{2}$. Here, $|\mathbf{x}\rangle\rangle$ and $|x\rangle\rangle$ are generalizations of the one-particle position bases in the Schrödinger and interaction pictures, respectively. They satisfy

$$\langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{x} \mid \boldsymbol{p} \rangle\!\rangle = \frac{e^{i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}} = \langle \boldsymbol{x} \mid \boldsymbol{p} \rangle, \quad \langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{x} \mid \boldsymbol{p} \rangle\!\rangle = \frac{e^{i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}} = \langle \boldsymbol{x} \mid \boldsymbol{p} \rangle.$$
(32)

⁷ See footnote 4.

Now we can write the field operator on \mathcal{H} as

$$\widehat{\phi}(x) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d p}{2E_p} \left(\langle\!\langle x \mid p \rangle\!\rangle \,\widehat{\alpha}_p + \widehat{\alpha}_p^\dagger \,\langle\!\langle p \mid x \rangle\!\rangle \right). \tag{33}$$

Note that a wave function $\langle \langle x | \Phi \rangle$ is equivalent to the one given in Eq. (2) in Ref. [11].

On $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$, we may formally write

$$\langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{x} \rangle = \langle \boldsymbol{x} \rangle \frac{1}{\sqrt{2E_{\hat{p}}}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\sqrt{-\nabla^2 + m^2}}} \langle \boldsymbol{x} \rangle.$$
(34)

The normalization on $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$ is

and we may again write down the inner product of bases of $L^2(\Sigma_{(x^0)})$ and of $L^2(\Sigma_{(x^0)})$.⁸

On $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$, the completeness relation becomes

$$\begin{split} \hat{\mathbf{l}} &= \int \mathrm{d}^{d} \mathbf{x} \sqrt{2E_{\hat{p}}} |\mathbf{x}\rangle\rangle \langle\!\langle \mathbf{x} | \sqrt{2E_{\hat{p}}} \\ &= \int \mathrm{d}^{d} \mathbf{x} \left[|\mathbf{x}\rangle\rangle \sqrt{2\sqrt{m^{2} - \mathbf{\nabla}^{2}}} \right] \left[\sqrt{2\sqrt{m^{2} - \mathbf{\nabla}^{2}}} \langle\!\langle \mathbf{x} | \right] \\ &= \int \mathrm{d}^{d} \mathbf{x} 2E_{\hat{p}} |\mathbf{x}\rangle\rangle \langle\!\langle \mathbf{x} | \\ &= \int \mathrm{d}^{d} \mathbf{x} \left[|\mathbf{x}\rangle\rangle 2\sqrt{m^{2} - \mathbf{\nabla}^{2}} \right] \langle\!\langle \mathbf{x} | \\ &= \int \mathrm{d}^{d} \mathbf{x} \left[|\mathbf{x}\rangle\rangle 2\sqrt{m^{2} - \mathbf{\nabla}^{2}} \right] \langle\!\langle \mathbf{x} | \\ &= \int \mathrm{d}^{d} \mathbf{x} |\mathbf{x}\rangle\rangle \langle\!\langle \mathbf{x} | 2E_{\hat{p}} \end{split}$$

⁸ From this, the Feynman propagator is given by

$$D_{\mathrm{F}}(x - x') = \theta \left(x^{0} - x'^{0} \right) \left\| x \mid x' \right\| + \theta \left(x'^{0} - x^{0} \right) \left\| x' \mid x \right\|$$
$$= \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{D} p}{(2\pi)^{D}} e^{i p \cdot (x - x')} \frac{-i}{p^{2} + m^{2} - i\epsilon}.$$

One may find its explicit form as a function of $(x - x')^2$ e.g. in Ref. [23].

$$= \int \mathrm{d}^{d} \boldsymbol{x} \, |\boldsymbol{x}\rangle\rangle \left[2\sqrt{m^{2} - \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2}} \, \langle\langle \boldsymbol{x} | \right], \tag{37}$$

which can be checked by sandwiching the two sides by $\langle p |$ and $|p'\rangle$. The same relation holds on $L^2(\Sigma_{(x^0)})$ when we replace $|x\rangle$ and $\langle x |$ by $|x\rangle$ and $\langle x |$, respectively, because the factors $e^{\pm i\sqrt{m^2+\nabla^2 x^0}}$ cancel out each other. Now we may rewrite the above completeness relation in a manifestly Lorentz-invariant fashion⁹ on an arbitrary $L^2(\Sigma)$ space, with the same precaution as given after Eq. (11):

$$\hat{1} = \int_{\Sigma} d^{d} \Sigma^{\mu} |x\rangle \left[2i \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} \langle \langle x \rangle \right]$$
$$= \int_{\Sigma} d^{d} \Sigma^{\mu} \left[|x\rangle \left(-2i \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} \right) \right] \langle \langle x \rangle \rangle, \qquad (38)$$

where $d^d \Sigma^{\mu}$ is the surface element normal to Σ . (In the language of differential forms, it is nothing but the induced volume element $d^d \Sigma^{\mu} = -\star dx^{\mu}$, with \star denoting the Hodge dual; in flat spacetime, we get $\star dx_{\mu} = \frac{1}{d!} \epsilon_{\mu\mu_1 \cdots \mu_d} dx^{\mu_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge dx^{\mu_d}$ with $\epsilon_{01 \cdots d} = 1$.)

Physically, a probability density P(x) (per unit volume $d^d x$) of observing the particle at a position x at time x^0 for a (normalized) wave packet $|\psi\rangle$ is given by the expectation value of the projector $|x\rangle \langle x|$ on $L^2(\Sigma_{(x^0)})$:¹⁰

$$P(x) = \langle \psi | x \rangle \langle x | \psi \rangle = \langle \psi | \sqrt{2E_{\hat{p}}} | x \rangle \langle x | \sqrt{2E_{\hat{p}}} | \psi \rangle$$
$$= \left| \sqrt{2\sqrt{m^2 - \nabla^2}} \langle \langle x | \psi \rangle \right|^2.$$
(39)

Note that the probability density is not merely the absolutesquare of the wave function.

The following relations on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ may be useful:

$$\langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{p} | \, \hat{\boldsymbol{x}} = \sqrt{2E_p} \, i \, \nabla_p \, \langle \boldsymbol{p} | = i \, \nabla_p \, \langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{p} | - i \frac{\boldsymbol{p}}{2E_p^2} \, \langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{p} | \,, \qquad (40) \, \langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{p} \rangle \,, \qquad (40) \, \langle\;\langle \boldsymbol{p} \rangle \,, \qquad$$

and we get

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{x}} |\boldsymbol{x}\rangle\rangle = \left(\boldsymbol{x} - i\frac{\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}}{2E_{\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}}^2}\right) |\boldsymbol{x}\rangle\rangle, \qquad (41)$$

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{x}} |\boldsymbol{x}\rangle\rangle = \left(\boldsymbol{x} - \frac{\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}}{E_{\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}}} \boldsymbol{x}^0 - i\frac{\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}}{2E_{\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}}^2}\right) |\boldsymbol{x}\rangle\rangle, \qquad (42)$$

Table 1 Eigenvalues of	p	and \hat{x} or	rχ̂	on various	states
------------------------	---	------------------	-----	------------	--------

State	\hat{p}	$\hat{\boldsymbol{\chi}} = \hat{\boldsymbol{x}} - i \frac{\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}}{2E_{\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}}^2}$
(p)	$egin{array}{c c} p \mid \hat{p} = p egin{array}{c c} p \mid \end{array}$	$\langle p \hat{x} = i \nabla_p \langle p $
$\langle x $	$\langle \boldsymbol{x} \mid \hat{\boldsymbol{p}} = -i \nabla \langle \boldsymbol{x} \mid$	$egin{array}{c} \langle x \hat{x} = x raket{x} \end{array}$
$\langle x = \langle \boldsymbol{x} e^{-i E_{\hat{p}} x^0}$	$\langle x \hat{p} = -i \nabla \langle x $	$\langle x \left(\hat{\boldsymbol{x}} + \frac{\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}}{E_{\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}}} x^0 \right) = \boldsymbol{x} \langle x $
$\overline{\langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{p} \rangle\! = \sqrt{2E_p} \langle \boldsymbol{p} \rangle\! }$	$\langle\!\langle p \ \hat{p} = p \langle\!\langle p $	$\langle\!\langle p \mid \hat{\boldsymbol{\chi}}^{\dagger} = i \nabla_p \langle\!\langle p \mid$
$\langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{x} = \langle \boldsymbol{x} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2E_{\hat{p}}}}$	$\langle\!\langle x \mid \hat{p} = -i \nabla \langle\!\langle x \mid$	$\langle\!\langle x \mid \hat{\chi} = x \langle\!\langle x angle$
$\langle\!\langle x = \langle \boldsymbol{x} \frac{e^{-iE_{\hat{p}}x^0}}{\sqrt{2E_{\hat{p}}}}$	$\langle\!\langle x \mid \hat{p} = -i \nabla \langle\!\langle x \mid$	$\langle\!\langle x \left(\hat{\boldsymbol{\chi}} + \frac{\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}}{E_{\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}}} x^0 \right) = \boldsymbol{x} \left<\!\langle x \right.$
p angle	$\hat{p} \ket{p} = p \ket{p}$	$\hat{x} p angle = p angle \left(-i \overleftarrow{\nabla}_{p} ight)$
$ x\rangle$	$\hat{p} \ket{x} = \ket{x} \left(i \overleftarrow{ abla} ight)$	$\hat{x}\ket{x}=x\ket{x}$
$ x\rangle = e^{iE_{\hat{p}}x^0} x\rangle$	$\hat{\boldsymbol{p}} \left x \right\rangle = \left x \right\rangle \left(i \overleftarrow{\nabla} \right)$	$\left(\hat{\boldsymbol{x}} + \frac{\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}}{E_{\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}}} \boldsymbol{x}^{0}\right) \boldsymbol{x}\rangle = \boldsymbol{x} \boldsymbol{x}\rangle$
$ \boldsymbol{p}\rangle\rangle = \sqrt{2E_p} \boldsymbol{p}\rangle$	$\hat{p} \mid p angle = p \mid p angle$	$\hat{\boldsymbol{\chi}} \boldsymbol{p}\rangle = \boldsymbol{p}\rangle \left(-i \overleftarrow{\nabla}_{\boldsymbol{p}}\right)$
$ x angle angle=rac{1}{\sqrt{2E_{\hat{p}}}} x angle$	$\hat{p} x\rangle = x\rangle \langle i \overline{\nabla} \rangle$	$\hat{\chi}^{\dagger} \ket{x} = x \ket{x}$
$ x\rangle\rangle = \frac{e^{iE_{\hat{p}}x^0}}{\sqrt{2E_{\hat{p}}}} x\rangle\rangle$	$\hat{\boldsymbol{p}} x\rangle = x\rangle \left(i \overleftarrow{\nabla}\right)$	$\left(\hat{\boldsymbol{\chi}}^{\dagger} + \frac{\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}}{E_{\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}}} \boldsymbol{x}^{0}\right) \boldsymbol{x}\rangle\rangle = \boldsymbol{x} \boldsymbol{x}\rangle\rangle$

In each set of three rows separated by the horizontal lines, the first, second, and third rows are given in the Hilbert spaces $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$, and $L^2(\Sigma_{(x^0)})$, respectively

on $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$ and on $L^2(\Sigma_{(x^0)})$, respectively. Equation (40) is equivalent to Eq. (11) in Ref. [11] up to the metric sign convention.

We may formally define *non*-Hermitian position-like operator:¹¹

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\chi}} := \sqrt{2E_{\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}}} \hat{\boldsymbol{x}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2E_{\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}}}} = \hat{\boldsymbol{x}} - i \frac{\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}}{2E_{\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}}^2}, \tag{43}$$

which satisfies

$$\langle\!\langle \mathbf{x} | \ \hat{\mathbf{\chi}} = \mathbf{x} \,\langle\!\langle \mathbf{x} | , \ \hat{\mathbf{\chi}}^{\dagger} | \mathbf{x} \rangle\!\rangle = \mathbf{x} \,| \mathbf{x} \rangle\!\rangle,$$
 (44)

$$\langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{p} | \, \hat{\boldsymbol{\chi}}^{\dagger} = i \nabla_{\boldsymbol{p}} \, \langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{p} | \,, \quad \hat{\boldsymbol{\chi}} \, | \boldsymbol{p} \rangle\!\rangle = | \boldsymbol{p} \rangle\!\rangle \left(-i \overleftarrow{\nabla}_{\boldsymbol{p}} \right), \tag{45}$$

on $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$ and on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, respectively. Note that e.g. $|\mathbf{x}\rangle\rangle$ is not an eigenbasis of $\hat{\mathbf{\chi}}$ but of $\hat{\mathbf{\chi}}^{\dagger}$. In Eq. (44), the eigenvalues happen to be real for the non-Hermitian operators $\hat{\mathbf{\chi}}$ and $\hat{\mathbf{\chi}}^{\dagger}$, respectively.

We summarize the results for various bases in Table 1.

Finally, we comment on the Lorentz-transformation property of the one-particle momentum and position operators on

⁹ More precisely, the relation becomes Lorentz invariant when the two sides are sandwiched by the basis states $\langle \langle p |$ and $|q \rangle \rangle$.

¹⁰ We are working in the interaction picture and hence the time dependence of the wave function is $e^{i\hat{H}_{\text{free}}x^0}e^{-i\hat{H}x^0} |\psi\rangle$ with $\hat{H} = \hat{H}_{\text{free}} + \hat{H}_{\text{int}}$. Throughout this paper, we neglect interactions, $\hat{H}_{\text{int}} = 0$, and hence it suffices to treat the time dependence as in the main text.

¹¹ This operator has been discussed in Ref. [19] and references therein, where $\hat{\chi}$ is treated as self-adjoint. Our claim differs in that $\hat{\chi}$ is manifestly non-self-adjoint.

 $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ or $L^2(\Sigma_{(x^0)})$. The Poincaré transformation¹² on the annihilation operator reads (see e.g. Ref. [1])

$$\widehat{a}_{p} \to \widehat{U}_{\text{free}}(\Lambda, b) \,\widehat{a}_{p} \,\widehat{U}_{\text{free}}^{\dagger}(\Lambda, b) = e^{i(\Lambda p) \cdot b} \sqrt{\frac{(\Lambda p)^{0}}{p^{0}}} \widehat{a}_{p_{\Lambda}},$$
(46)

$$\widehat{\alpha}_{p} \to \widehat{U}_{\text{free}}(\Lambda, b) \,\widehat{\alpha}_{p} \,\widehat{U}_{\text{free}}^{\dagger}(\Lambda, b) = e^{i(\Lambda p) \cdot b} \widehat{\alpha}_{p_{\Lambda}}, \tag{47}$$

where \boldsymbol{p}_{Λ} denotes the spatial component of Λp , namely $(\boldsymbol{p}_{\Lambda})^{i} = (\Lambda p)^{i}$. In particular,

$$|\boldsymbol{p}\rangle\!\rangle \to \widehat{U}_{\text{free}}(\Lambda, b) |\boldsymbol{p}\rangle\!\rangle = e^{-i(\Lambda p)\cdot b} |\boldsymbol{p}_{\Lambda}\rangle\!\rangle.$$
(48)

We may reinterpret this transformation on states as that on operators

$$\hat{p}^{i} \to \hat{p}^{i}_{\Lambda} := \widehat{U}^{\dagger}_{\text{free}}(\Lambda, b) \, \hat{p}^{i} \, \widehat{U}_{\text{free}}(\Lambda, b) \,, \tag{49}$$

which yields

$$\hat{p}_{\Lambda}^{i} | \boldsymbol{p} \rangle = (\Lambda p)^{i} | \boldsymbol{p} \rangle .$$
(50)

The momentum operator is covariant on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ in this sense. The transformation (47) yields

$$\widehat{\phi}(x) \to \widehat{U}_{\text{free}}(\Lambda, b) \,\widehat{\phi}(x) \,\widehat{U}_{\text{free}}^{\dagger}(\Lambda, b) = \widehat{\phi}(\Lambda x + b) \,.$$
 (51)

From Eqs. (31) and (51), we see that

$$|x\rangle\rangle \to \widehat{U}_{\text{free}}(\Lambda, b) |x\rangle\rangle = |\Lambda x + b\rangle\rangle,$$
 (52)

Again, reinterpreting this as transformation on operators

$$\hat{\chi}^{i\dagger} \to \hat{\chi}^{i\dagger}_{\Lambda,b} := \widehat{U}^{\dagger}_{\text{free}}(\Lambda, b) \, \hat{\chi}^{i\dagger} \widehat{U}_{\text{free}}(\Lambda, b) \,, \tag{53}$$

we can show that

$$\hat{\chi}_{\Lambda,b}^{i\dagger} |x\rangle = (\Lambda x + b)^i |x\rangle.$$
(54)

We see that, on the Lorentz-friendly basis $|x\rangle$ in $L^2(\Sigma_{(x^0)})$, the non-Hermitian operator $\hat{\chi}^{\dagger}$ is the spatial component of a Poincaré-covariant vector. On the other hand, we clearly see that the physical position operator $\hat{x} = \hat{\chi}^{\dagger} - i \frac{\hat{p}}{2E_{\hat{p}}^2}$ is not a spatial component of a Lorentz-covariant vector due to the second term. From the point of view of modern quantum field theory, it is not compulsory that \hat{x} , associated to a particular spacetime foliation $\Sigma_{(x^0)}$ with time slices of constant x^0 , be a covariant operator. Of course, the whole theory is Lorentz invariant in the sense that the S-matrix, constructed from the covariant quantum fields (51) defined in the whole space \mathcal{H} , is Lorentz invariant.

2.3 Gaussian basis

We define the Gaussian basis states through a *normalizable*, hence physical, wave function on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ [3]:

$$\langle \sigma; X, \boldsymbol{P} \mid \boldsymbol{p} \rangle := \left(\frac{\sigma}{\pi}\right)^{\frac{d}{4}} e^{i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{X}} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}(\boldsymbol{p}-\boldsymbol{P})^2}, \tag{55}$$

$$\langle \sigma; X, \boldsymbol{P} \mid \boldsymbol{p} \rangle := \left(\frac{\sigma}{\pi}\right)^{\frac{a}{4}} e^{i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{X}} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}(\boldsymbol{p}-\boldsymbol{P})^2}, \tag{56}$$

where *X* and *P* are the centers of position and momentum of the wave packet, respectively, at time $x^0 = 0$ for Eq. (55) and $x^0 = X^0$ for (56), while $\sigma > 0$ is its width-squared. We see that these states on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ are related by

$$|\sigma; X, \mathbf{P}\rangle = e^{iE_{\hat{\mathbf{p}}}X^0} |\sigma; X, \mathbf{P}\rangle.$$
(57)

Due to this dependence on X^0 , one might want to regard the physical states $|\sigma; X, P\rangle$ and $|\sigma; X, P\rangle$ as some bases in the Schrödinger and interaction pictures on $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$ and $L^2(\Sigma_{(X^0)})$, respectively, through the Fourier transformation.¹³ However, when we consider the wave function (59) below, X^0 is rather a parameter that specifies the shape of the wave packet, and the time coordinate is x^0 .

Again through the Fourier transformation, we may map the momentum-space wave functions onto $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$ and $L^2(\Sigma_{(x^0)})$:

$$\langle \boldsymbol{x} \,|\, \sigma; \, \boldsymbol{X}, \, \boldsymbol{P} \rangle = \int \mathrm{d}^{d} \, \boldsymbol{p} \, \langle \boldsymbol{x} \,|\, \boldsymbol{p} \rangle \, \langle \boldsymbol{p} \,|\, \sigma; \, \boldsymbol{X}, \, \boldsymbol{P} \rangle$$

$$= \frac{1}{(\pi \, \sigma)^{\frac{d}{4}}} e^{i \boldsymbol{P} \cdot (\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{X})} e^{-\frac{1}{2\sigma} (\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{X})^{2}},$$
(58)

$$\langle x \mid \sigma; X, \mathbf{P} \rangle = \int d^{d} \mathbf{p} \langle x \mid \mathbf{p} \rangle \langle \mathbf{p} \mid \sigma; X, \mathbf{P} \rangle$$

$$= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}} \left(\frac{\sigma}{\pi}\right)^{\frac{d}{4}} \int d^{d} \mathbf{p} \, e^{i\mathbf{p} \cdot (x-X)} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}(\mathbf{p}-\mathbf{P})^{2}}.$$
(59)

At the leading saddle-point approximation for large σ , Eq. (59) reduces to a closed form [4]:

$$\langle x \mid \sigma; X, P \rangle \rightarrow \left(\frac{1}{\pi\sigma}\right)^{d/4} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2P^0}} e^{iP \cdot (x-X)} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2} \left(x-X-V(x^0-X^0)\right)^2},$$
(60)

 $^{^{12}~}$ Here we only consider orthochronous Λ so that $\widehat{U}_{\rm free}~(\Lambda, b)$ is linear and unitary.

¹³ See also footnotes 4 and 5.

where *P* is on-shell $P^0 = E_P$ as always, and we define $V := P/P^0$. We see that the center of the wave packet moves as $X + V(x^0 - X^0)$ when we vary time x^0 , namely, when we change the time-slice $\Sigma_{(x^0)}$.

The inner product in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is not orthogonal:

$$\langle \sigma; \boldsymbol{X}, \boldsymbol{P} \mid \sigma'; \boldsymbol{X}', \boldsymbol{P}' \rangle$$

$$= \left(\frac{\sigma_{\mathrm{I}}}{\sigma_{\mathrm{A}}} \right)^{\frac{d}{4}} e^{-\frac{1}{4\sigma_{\mathrm{A}}} (\boldsymbol{X} - \boldsymbol{X}')^{2}} e^{-\frac{\sigma_{\mathrm{I}}}{4} (\boldsymbol{P} - \boldsymbol{P}')^{2}} e^{\frac{i}{2\sigma_{\mathrm{I}}} (\sigma \boldsymbol{P} + \sigma' \boldsymbol{P}') \cdot (\boldsymbol{X} - \boldsymbol{X}')},$$

$$(61)$$

where $\sigma_{A} := \frac{\sigma + \sigma'}{2}$ and $\sigma_{I} := \left(\frac{\sigma^{-1} + \sigma'^{-1}}{2}\right)^{-1} = \frac{2\sigma\sigma'}{\sigma + \sigma'} = \frac{\sigma\sigma'}{\sigma_{A}}$ are the average and the inverse of the average, respectively [5].

It is important that the Gaussian basis, with any fixed σ , form an (over)complete set in the free one-particle subspace $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ [3,4]:

$$\int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} X \,\mathrm{d}^{d} \boldsymbol{P}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \left| \boldsymbol{\sigma}; \boldsymbol{X}, \, \boldsymbol{P} \right\rangle \left\langle \boldsymbol{\sigma}; \, \boldsymbol{X}, \, \boldsymbol{P} \right| = \hat{1}. \tag{62}$$

Because any fixed σ suffices to provide the complete set spanning $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, we omit the label σ usually. We may expand any wave function (or field configuration obeying the Klein–Gordon equation) $\psi(x) = \langle x | \psi \rangle$ by the Gaussian complete set { $|X, P\rangle$ }_{X,P} that spans $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$:

$$\psi(x) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d X \,\mathrm{d}^d P}{(2\pi)^d} \langle x \,|\, X, \, P \rangle \, \langle X, \, P \,|\, \psi \rangle \,, \tag{63}$$

and conversely, the expansion coefficient may be computed by

$$\langle X, P | \psi \rangle = \int d^{d} x \, \langle X, P | x \rangle \, \langle x | \psi \rangle$$

$$= \frac{1}{(\pi \sigma)^{\frac{d}{4}}} \int d^{d} x \, e^{-i P \cdot (x - X)} e^{-\frac{1}{2\sigma} (x - X)^{2}} \, \langle x | \psi \rangle$$

$$= \int d^{d} p \, \langle X, P | p \rangle \, \langle p | \psi \rangle$$

$$= \left(\frac{\sigma}{\pi}\right)^{\frac{d}{4}} \int d^{d} p \, e^{i p \cdot X} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2} (p - P)^{2}} \, \langle p | \psi \rangle .$$
(64)

2.4 Coherent states

Here we see that a Gaussian wave packet is indeed a coherent state [24,25] in the free-one-particle subspace $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, or equivalently in $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$.

We define an "annihilation" operator for a *d*-dimensional harmonic oscillator:

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{a}} := \lambda \left(\frac{\hat{\boldsymbol{x}}}{\sqrt{\sigma}} + i\sqrt{\sigma}\,\hat{\boldsymbol{p}} \right), \quad \hat{\boldsymbol{a}}^{\dagger} = \lambda^* \left(\frac{\hat{\boldsymbol{x}}}{\sqrt{\sigma}} - i\sqrt{\sigma}\,\hat{\boldsymbol{p}} \right),$$
(65)

where λ is an overall normalization, which is usually taken to be $\lambda = 1/\sqrt{2}$ but we leave it as an arbitrary complex number here. (More specifically, \hat{p} has been defined on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and \hat{x} the generator of translation on it; or equivalently, one may regard \hat{x} to be defined on $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$ and \hat{p} the generator on it.) The dimensionality is given by $[\hat{a}] = [\lambda]$. Note that this annihilation operator has nothing to do with the field annihilation operator in Eq. (2). We see that $[\hat{a}_i, \hat{a}_j^{\dagger}] = 2 |\lambda|^2 \delta_{ij} \hat{1}$ and $[\hat{a}_i, \hat{a}_j] = [\hat{a}_i^{\dagger}, \hat{a}_j^{\dagger}] = 0$.

A coherent state is a normalizable physical state that is defined in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ or equivalently in $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$ by

$$\hat{a} | \alpha \rangle = \alpha | \alpha \rangle,$$
 (66)

where $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_d)$ is a *d*-vector of complex numbers of mass dimension $[\boldsymbol{\alpha}] = [\lambda]$.¹⁴ From

$$\lambda \left(\frac{\mathbf{x}}{\sqrt{\sigma}} + \sqrt{\sigma} \nabla \right) \langle \mathbf{x} | \mathbf{\alpha} \rangle = \mathbf{\alpha} \langle \mathbf{x} | \mathbf{\alpha} \rangle, \qquad (67)$$

we get the solution in $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$:

$$\langle \boldsymbol{x} \, | \, \boldsymbol{\alpha} \rangle = \frac{1}{(\pi \sigma)^{\frac{d}{4}}} e^{-\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\boldsymbol{x}}{\sqrt{\sigma}} - \mathfrak{N} \frac{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}{\lambda}\right)^2} e^{i \mathfrak{N} \frac{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}{\lambda} \cdot \frac{\boldsymbol{x}}{\sqrt{\sigma}}}, \tag{68}$$

where we have normalized such that $\langle \boldsymbol{\alpha} | \boldsymbol{\alpha} \rangle = 1$ and hence $[|\boldsymbol{\alpha}\rangle] = 0$. In the momentum space $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, this becomes

$$\langle \boldsymbol{p} \, | \, \boldsymbol{\alpha} \rangle = \left(\frac{\pi}{\sigma}\right)^{\frac{d}{4}} e^{-i\sqrt{\sigma} \boldsymbol{p} \cdot \Re \frac{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}{\lambda}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}\left(\sqrt{\sigma} \boldsymbol{p} - \Im \frac{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}{\lambda}\right)^2}; \tag{69}$$

see Eq. (55). Physically, the real and imaginary parts of α correspond to the center of position and momentum of the Gaussian wave packet. Looking at Eqs. (68) and (69), it is rather mysterious why the wave functions take such particular forms as functions of complex numbers α . We will shed some light on this point in Sect. 3.

Comparing Eq. (68) with Eq. (58), we see that the Gaussian wave-packet state is indeed a coherent state in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$

¹⁴ The abuse of notation should be understood in that these α_i , which are just numbers, have nothing to do with the Lorentz-friendly annihilation operator (25). Historically, the name "coherent state" comes from the one in field space that describes a photon coherent wave, rather than the one (66) in position–momentum space; see the paragraph containing Eq. (74).

or equivalently in $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$:

$$|X, P\rangle = \left|\lambda\left(\frac{X}{\sqrt{\sigma}} + i\sqrt{\sigma}P\right)\right\rangle.$$
(70)

By taking $\lambda = \sqrt{\sigma}$ and $-i/\sqrt{\sigma}$, we may write

$$|X, P\rangle = |X + i\sigma P\rangle_{\lambda = \sqrt{\sigma}} = \left|P - i\frac{X}{\sigma}\right|_{\lambda = -\frac{i}{\sqrt{\sigma}}}.$$
 (71)

Now we see that the completeness relation (62) is equivalent to the completeness of the coherent states in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ or equivalently in $L^2(\Sigma_{(0)})$:

$$\frac{1}{\left(2\pi |\lambda|^2\right)^d} \int \mathrm{d}^{2d} \boldsymbol{\alpha} \, |\boldsymbol{\alpha}\rangle \, \langle \boldsymbol{\alpha}| = \hat{1},\tag{72}$$

where

$$\mathrm{d}^{2d}\boldsymbol{\alpha} = \prod_{i=1}^{d} \mathrm{d}\Re\alpha_{i} \,\mathrm{d}\Im\alpha_{i} = \bigwedge_{j=1}^{d} \left(\frac{i}{2}\mathrm{d}\alpha_{j} \wedge \mathrm{d}\alpha_{j}^{*}\right). \tag{73}$$

We list some more usable facts in Appendix A.

We comment that the coherent state in the positionmomentum space (68) or (69) should not be confused with the coherent state in the (photon) *field space*, used in quantum optics [24,25], for a *fixed* wavenumber vector \mathbf{k} (and hence with the fixed wavelength $2\pi/|\mathbf{k}|$):

$$|z\rangle_{k} = e^{-\frac{|z|^{2}}{2}} e^{z\widehat{a}_{k}^{\dagger}} |0\rangle, \qquad (74)$$

where \hat{a}_{k}^{\dagger} is the creation operator in the sense of Eq. (2) (but with a box normalization $[\hat{a}_{k}, \hat{a}_{k'}^{\dagger}] = \delta_{k,k'}$) and we have taken $\lambda = 1/\sqrt{2}$.

3 Lorentz-invariant wave packet

From the form of the Gaussian wave-packet state (56), it is tempting to generalize it into a Lorentz invariant form:

$$\langle \boldsymbol{p} \,|\, \boldsymbol{X}, \, \boldsymbol{P} \rangle \propto e^{-i\,\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{X} - \frac{\sigma}{2}(\boldsymbol{p} - \boldsymbol{P})^2} \to e^{-i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{X} - \frac{\sigma}{2}(\boldsymbol{p} - \boldsymbol{P})^2}$$
$$= e^{\sigma m^2} e^{-i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot(\boldsymbol{X} + i\sigma \boldsymbol{P})},$$
(75)

where we have used the on-shell condition $p^2 = P^2 = -m^2$. As we have seen in Eq. (71), the Gaussian wave-packet state $|X, P\rangle$ is nothing but a position-momentum coherent state. For the coherent state, it is rather mysterious why the real and imaginary parts of the complex numbers α appear in the forms (68) and (69). It is remarkable that the Lorentz invariant generalization (75) has the seemingly holomorphic dependence on the *D* complex variables $X + i\sigma P$ if one generalizes *P* to be off-shell.¹⁵

Motivated by this fact, we define the following Lorentzinvariant wave-packet state in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$:¹⁶

$$\langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{p} \,|\, \sigma; X, \boldsymbol{P} \rangle\!\rangle := N_{\sigma} e^{-i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot(X+i\sigma\boldsymbol{P})} = N_{\sigma} e^{i\boldsymbol{E}_{\boldsymbol{p}} X^{0} - i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{X}} e^{-\sigma\left(\boldsymbol{E}_{\boldsymbol{p}} \boldsymbol{E}_{\boldsymbol{P}} - \boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{P}\right)},$$
(76)

where N_{σ} is a normalization constant. Given the reference frame *x*, this wave packet is centered near $\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{X}$ and $\mathbf{p} = \mathbf{P}$ at time $x^0 = X^0$. As said above, one might want to regard the state $|\sigma; X, \mathbf{P}\rangle$ as a basis of $\Sigma_{(X^0)}$ in the interaction picture but we will see that, in terms of the wave function (104) in $\Sigma_{(x^0)}, X^0$ is mere a parameter that specifies the wave packet $|\sigma; X, \mathbf{P}\rangle$, while the time is specified by x^0 . Also, we will continue to abbreviate σ to write $|X, \mathbf{P}\rangle$ unless otherwise stated.

As an illustration of the more general computation spelled out in Appendix B, we will show in Sect. 3.1 that the normalization

$$\left\| \left| X, \boldsymbol{P} \right\rangle \right\|^2 = 1, \tag{77}$$

in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, is realized by

$$N_{\sigma} = \left(\frac{\sigma}{\pi}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{4}} \left(K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}\left(2\sigma m^{2}\right)\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}},\tag{78}$$

where *K* is the modified Bessel function of the second kind. With this normalization, mass dimensions are $[|X, P\rangle] = 0$ and $[N_{\sigma}] = -\frac{d-1}{2}$.

We comment on possible generalizations of *P* to be offshell. If we make *P* off-shell in the first line in Eq. (76), it becomes divergent for $|\mathbf{p}| \rightarrow \infty$ when $p \cdot P > 0$, namely, when

$$P^0 < \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{P},\tag{79}$$

where $\mathbf{v} := \mathbf{p}/E_{\mathbf{p}}$ with $|\mathbf{v}| < 1$. Therefore, the generalization of *P* to off-shell would be safe so long as *P* is timelike and future-oriented, in which case the condition (79) is never met. (This is the case too if we let *P* be off-shell in $e^{-ip \cdot X} - \frac{\sigma}{2}(p-P)^2 = e^{-ip \cdot X} e^{\frac{\sigma}{2}(m^2 - P^2) + \sigma p \cdot P}$, though the limit of super-heavy "off-shell mass" $-P^2 \to \infty$ diverges.)

¹⁵ As we will discuss below, the generalization of P to an off-shell momentum is straightforward so far as P is timelike and future-oriented. We leave further generalization for future study.

¹⁶ To be precise, the state $|\sigma; X, P\rangle$ is Lorentz covariant and the wave function (76) is Lorentz invariant.

3.1 Normalization

We compute the norm on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$:

$$\| |X, \boldsymbol{P}\rangle\rangle \|^{2} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} \boldsymbol{p}}{2E_{\boldsymbol{p}}} \langle\!\langle X, \boldsymbol{P} | \boldsymbol{p} \rangle\!\rangle \langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{p} | X, \boldsymbol{P} \rangle\!\rangle$$
$$= |N_{\sigma}|^{2} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} \boldsymbol{p}}{2E_{\boldsymbol{p}}} e^{2\sigma \boldsymbol{p} \cdot \boldsymbol{P}}$$
$$= |N_{\sigma}|^{2} \int \mathrm{d}^{D} \boldsymbol{p} \, \theta \left(\boldsymbol{p}^{0}\right) \delta \left(\boldsymbol{p}^{2} + \boldsymbol{m}^{2}\right) e^{2\sigma \boldsymbol{p} \cdot \boldsymbol{P}},$$
(80)

where we let p be off-shell in the last line to make the Lorentz invariance manifest. As P is on-shell, we may always find a Lorentz transformation $\Lambda(P)$ to its rest frame $\widetilde{P} := (m, \mathbf{0})$ such that $\Lambda P = \widetilde{P}$. Then we change the integration variable to $\widetilde{p} := \Lambda p$. Using the Lorentz invariance of the integration measure etc. as well as $(\Lambda^{-1}\widetilde{p}) \cdot P = \widetilde{p} \cdot \Lambda P = \widetilde{p} \cdot \widetilde{P} = -\widetilde{p}^0 m$, we get

$$\| |X, \boldsymbol{P}\rangle\rangle \|^{2} = |N_{\sigma}|^{2} \int \mathrm{d}^{D} \widetilde{p} \,\theta\left(\widetilde{p}^{0}\right) \delta\left(\widetilde{p}^{2} + m^{2}\right) e^{-2\sigma \widetilde{p}^{0}m}$$
$$= |N_{\sigma}|^{2} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} \boldsymbol{p}}{2E_{\boldsymbol{p}}} e^{-2\sigma m \sqrt{m^{2} + \boldsymbol{p}^{2}}}$$
$$= |N_{\sigma}|^{2} \,\Omega_{d-1} \int_{m}^{\infty} \frac{\left(E^{2} - m^{2}\right)^{\frac{d-2}{2}} E \,\mathrm{d}E}{2E} e^{-2\sigma m E}$$
$$= |N_{\sigma}|^{2} \left(\frac{\pi}{\sigma}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} K_{\frac{d-1}{2}} \left(2\sigma m^{2}\right), \qquad (81)$$

where $\Omega_{d-1} = 2\pi^{\frac{d}{2}} / \Gamma(\frac{d}{2})$ is the area of a unit (d-1)-sphere. We see that the normalization $|||X, P\rangle||^2 = 1$ is realized by Eq. (78). One can also check that this result is consistent with the master formula (93) with $\Xi \to 2\sigma P$ and hence $||\Xi|| = \sqrt{-\Xi^2} \to 2\sigma m$.

In the following, we list several limits for the reader's convenience. First,

$$K_{n}(z) = \begin{cases} \frac{2^{n-1}(n-1)!}{z^{n}} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{z^{n-1}}\right) & (z \to 0, n > 0), \\ e^{-z} \left[\sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2z}} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{z^{3/2}}\right)\right] & (z \to \infty), \end{cases}$$
(82)

and in the limits $\sigma m^2 \rightarrow 0$ and ∞ , we get, respectively,

$$N_{\sigma} \rightarrow \begin{cases} \sqrt{\frac{2}{\left(\frac{d-3}{2}\right)!}} \left(\frac{\sigma m}{\sqrt{\pi}}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} & (\sigma m^2 \rightarrow 0), \\ \sqrt{2m} \left(\frac{\sigma}{\pi}\right)^{\frac{d}{4}} e^{\sigma m^2} & (\sigma m^2 \rightarrow \infty). \end{cases}$$
(83)

Here one might find it curious that a plane-wave limit $\sigma \rightarrow \infty$ is equivalent to a non-relativistic limit $m \rightarrow \infty$, and a particle limit $\sigma \rightarrow 0$ to an ultra-relativistic limit $m \rightarrow 0$.

The non-relativistic limit $m \to \infty$ of the Lorentz-invariant wave packet (76) comes back to the Gaussian form (56) up to the factor $\sqrt{2m}$,

$$\langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{p} \mid \boldsymbol{X}, \boldsymbol{P} \rangle\!\rangle \to \sqrt{2m} \left(\frac{\sigma}{\pi}\right)^{\frac{d}{4}} e^{iE_{\boldsymbol{p}}\boldsymbol{X}^{0} - i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{X}} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}(\boldsymbol{p}-\boldsymbol{P})^{2}},$$
 (84)

where $E_p = m + \frac{p^2}{2m} + \cdots$, we have used the limit (83), and have neglected $\mathcal{O}(m^{-2})$ terms in the last exponent in Eq. (84). In the ultra-relativistic limit, $m \to 0$, we get

$$\langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{p} \,|\, \boldsymbol{X}, \, \boldsymbol{P} \,\rangle\!\rangle \to \sqrt{\frac{2}{\left(\frac{d-3}{2}\right)!}} \left(\frac{\sigma m}{\sqrt{\pi}}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} e^{-|\boldsymbol{p}| \left\{\sigma \,|\, \boldsymbol{P}|(1-\cos\theta_{\boldsymbol{P}})-i\left(\boldsymbol{X}^{0}-|\boldsymbol{X}|\cos\theta_{\boldsymbol{X}}\right)\right\}},$$

$$(85)$$

where $\cos \theta_X := \mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{X} / |\mathbf{p}| |\mathbf{X}|$ and $\cos \theta_P := \mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{P} / |\mathbf{p}|$ $|\mathbf{P}|$. In this limit, the original Gaussian suppression is made weaker. Especially along the direction of \mathbf{P} , $\cos \theta_P = 1$, there is no suppression for a large momentum $|\mathbf{p}| \rightarrow \infty$. This is the main obstacle of having a Lorentz-invariant wave packet for a massless particle.

3.2 Inner product

Let us compute the inner product of two Lorentz invariant wave packets: $\langle\!\!\langle \sigma; X, P \mid \sigma'; X', P' \rangle\!\!\rangle$ on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Here and hereafter, a prime symbol ' never denotes a derivative.

Motivated by the coherent states in the positionmomentum space (71), we define the following complex variables:

$$Z^{\mu}(\sigma) := X^{\mu} + i\sigma P^{\mu}, \tag{86}$$

$$\Pi^{\mu}(\sigma) := P^{\mu} - i\frac{X^{\mu}}{\sigma},\tag{87}$$

which are related by $Z^{\mu} = i\sigma \Pi^{\mu}$. We define the Lorentz invariant analog of the coherent state (71): ¹⁷

$$|Z(\sigma)\rangle := |\sigma; X, P\rangle, \quad |\Pi(\sigma)\rangle := |\sigma; X, P\rangle.$$
(88)

We see that

$$\langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{p} \mid \boldsymbol{Z}(\sigma) \rangle\!\rangle = N_{\sigma} e^{-i\boldsymbol{p} \cdot \boldsymbol{Z}(\sigma)}, \quad \langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{p} \mid \boldsymbol{\Pi}(\sigma) \rangle\!\rangle = N_{\sigma} e^{\sigma \boldsymbol{p} \cdot \boldsymbol{\Pi}(\sigma)}.$$
(89)

For later use, we define the "norm" of an arbitrary complex D-vector Ξ :

$$\|\Xi\| := \sqrt{-\Xi^2} = \sqrt{(\Xi^0)^2 - \Xi^2},$$
 (90)

¹⁷ Abuse of notation is understood: always the first and second definitions in Eq. (88) are used for the arguments Z and Π , respectively.

which is not necessarily positive nor even a real number.¹⁸ Now we may write

$$\begin{cases} \left\langle\!\!\left\langle\sigma; X, \boldsymbol{P} \mid \sigma'; X', \boldsymbol{P}'\right\rangle\!\!\right\rangle \\ = \left\langle\!\!\left\langle\Pi(\sigma) \mid \Pi'(\sigma')\right\rangle\!\!\right\rangle \\ = N_{\sigma}^* N_{\sigma'} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d \boldsymbol{p}}{2E_{\boldsymbol{p}}} e^{\boldsymbol{p} \cdot \left(\sigma \Pi^*(\sigma) + \sigma' \Pi'(\sigma')\right)}. \end{aligned}$$
(91)

To compute this, it is convenient to define the master integral:

$$\mathcal{I}(\Xi) := \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d \boldsymbol{u}}{2u^0} e^{\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \Xi} = \int \mathrm{d}^D \boldsymbol{u} \,\delta\left(\boldsymbol{u}^2 + 1\right) \theta\left(\boldsymbol{u}^0\right) e^{\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \Xi},\tag{92}$$

where Ξ is a dimensionless complex *D*-vector and the *D*-vector u (= p/m) is on-shell and off-shell for the first and second integrals, respectively. In Appendix B, we present a detailed evaluation of the integral, and the result is

$$\mathcal{I}(\Xi) = (2\pi)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \frac{K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{\|\Xi\|^{\frac{d-1}{2}}},$$
(93)

which is valid when $\Re \Xi$ is timelike $(\Re \Xi)^2 < 0$ and futureoriented $\Re \Xi^0 > 0$. This also implies that

$$\mathcal{I}(2\sigma mP) = \frac{1}{m^{d-1}N_{\sigma}^2},\tag{94}$$

with N_{σ} is given in Eq. (78).

The integral in the inner product (91) corresponds to

$$\Xi = m \left(\sigma \Pi^*(\sigma) + \sigma' \Pi'(\sigma') \right) = im \left(Z^*(\sigma) - Z'(\sigma') \right),$$
(95)

that is,

$$\Re \Xi = m \left(\sigma P + \sigma' P' \right), \quad \Im \Xi = m \left(X - X' \right). \tag{96}$$

From

$$\left(\sigma P + \sigma' P' \right)^2 = -\left(\sigma^2 + \sigma'^2 \right) m^2 + 2\sigma \sigma' P \cdot P'$$

$$\leq -\left(\sigma^2 + \sigma'^2 \right) m^2 + 2\sigma \sigma'$$

$$\times \left(-\sqrt{|\boldsymbol{P}|^2 + m^2} \sqrt{|\boldsymbol{P}'|^2 + m^2} + |\boldsymbol{P}| |\boldsymbol{P}'| \right) < 0,$$

$$(97)$$

we see that $\Re \Xi$ is always timelike. Therefore we may use the result (93):

$$\begin{split} \left\| \sigma; X, \mathbf{P} \mid \sigma'; X', \mathbf{P}' \right\| \\ &= N_{\sigma}^* N_{\sigma'} \left(2\pi \right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} m^{d-1} \frac{K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{\|\Xi\|^{\frac{d-1}{2}}} \\ &= \frac{\left(2\sqrt{\sigma\sigma'}m^2 \right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}{\left(K_{\frac{d-1}{2}} \left(2\sigma m^2 \right) K_{\frac{d-1}{2}} \left(2\sigma' m^2 \right) \right)^{1/2}} \frac{K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{\|\Xi\|^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}, \quad (98) \end{split}$$

where, in various notations,

$$\|\Xi\|^{2} = -\Xi^{2} = -m^{2} \left(\sigma \Pi^{*} + \sigma' \Pi'\right)^{2}$$

= $m^{2} \left(Z^{*} - Z'\right)^{2}$
= $-m^{2} \left(\sigma P + \sigma' P' + i \left(X - X'\right)\right)^{2}$
= $m^{2} \left(\left(X - X'\right) - i \left(\sigma P + \sigma' P'\right)\right)^{2}$. (99)

Especially when $\sigma = \sigma'$, we have

$$\left\| X, \mathbf{P} \mid X', \mathbf{P}' \right\| = \frac{\left(2\sigma m^2\right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}{K_{\frac{d-1}{2}} \left(2\sigma m^2\right)} \frac{K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{\|\Xi\|^{\frac{d-1}{2}}},$$
(100)

where

$$\|\Xi\|^{2} = -m^{2}\sigma^{2} (\Pi^{*} + \Pi')^{2}$$

= $m^{2} (Z^{*} - Z')^{2}$
= $-m^{2} (\sigma (P + P') + i (X - X'))^{2}$
= $m^{2} ((X - X') - i\sigma (P + P'))^{2}.$ (101)

3.3 Wave function

Let us compute the wave function for the Lorentz-invariant wave-packet state on $L^2(\Sigma_{(x^0)})$:

$$\langle\!\langle x \mid X, \boldsymbol{P} \rangle\!\rangle = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d \boldsymbol{p}}{2E_{\boldsymbol{p}}} \langle\!\langle x \mid \boldsymbol{p} \rangle\!\rangle \langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{p} \mid X, \boldsymbol{P} \rangle\!\rangle = \frac{N_{\sigma}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d \boldsymbol{p}}{2E_{\boldsymbol{p}}} e^{\boldsymbol{p} \cdot (\sigma \boldsymbol{P} + i(x - X))}.$$
(102)

Comparing with Eq. (92), we see the following correspondence:

$$\Xi = m \big(\sigma P + i \left(x - X \right) \big). \tag{103}$$

Obviously $(\Re \Xi)^2 = -\sigma^2 m^4 < 0$, and we may use Eq. (93):

$$\langle\!\langle x \mid X, P \rangle\!\rangle = \frac{N_{\sigma}m^{d-1}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \frac{K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{\|\Xi\|^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}$$

D Springer

¹⁸ The abuse of notation should be understood: This has nothing to do with the norm of a state vector in the Hilbert space such as in Eq. (77).

$$=\frac{1}{(4\pi\sigma)^{\frac{d-1}{4}}}\frac{\left(2\sigma m^{2}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}{\sqrt{2\pi K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(2\sigma m^{2})}}\frac{K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{\|\Xi\|^{\frac{d-1}{2}}},$$
(104)

where

$$\|\Xi\| := \sqrt{-\Xi^2} = m\sqrt{\sigma^2 m^2 + (x - X)^2 - 2i\sigma P \cdot (x - X)}.$$
(105)

The explicit form of the wave function (104) is one of our main results. This reduces to the earlier one in Refs. [16, 17] when d = 3 in the $X \rightarrow 0$ limit and may be interpreted as its spacetime translation by X. We note that there is no branchcut ambiguity for the argument (105) as long as m > 0; see the last paragraph in Appendix B.1.

Hereafter, we examine various characteristics of the above wave function. Firstly, along the line x = X + Ps corresponding to the particle trajectory, with *s* being a real parameter, we get $\Xi = mP(\sigma + is)$ and hence $||\Xi|| = m^2(\sigma + is)$. For a point sufficiently apart from *X* along this trajectory, namely for $s \to \pm \infty$, we get

$$\langle\!\langle x \mid X, \boldsymbol{P} \rangle\!\rangle \to \frac{\left(\frac{\sigma}{\pi}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{4}}}{2m\sqrt{K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}\left(2\sigma m^2\right)}} \frac{e^{-m^2(\sigma+is)}}{(\sigma+is)^{\frac{d}{2}}}.$$
 (106)

We see that the wave function is not suppressed along the direction of *P*: There is no exponential suppression for $|s| \rightarrow \infty$, while the apparent power suppression $\propto |s|^{-d}$ for $|\langle\langle x | X, P \rangle\rangle|^2$ is merely due to the broadening of the width of Gaussian wave packet in *d*-spatial dimensions (for a normalized wave packet, the height of center becomes lower and lower when the width is more and more broadened), as we will soon see below.

Secondly, let us furthermore consider a point slightly away from this trajectory, $x = X + Ps + \epsilon$, where ϵ is a small spacelike *D*-vector: $\epsilon^2 > 0$. (Here, for each *s*, a point on the trajectory X + Ps is specified, and we parametrize the spacelike hyperplane containing that point by ϵ .) Then in the limit $|s| \to \infty$,

$$\langle\!\langle x \mid X, \mathbf{P} \rangle\!\rangle \to \frac{\left(\frac{\sigma}{\pi}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{4}}}{2m\sqrt{K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(2\sigma m^2)}} \frac{e^{-\sigma m^2 - im^2 s}}{(\sigma + is)^{\frac{d}{2}}} \\ \times \exp\left(-\frac{\sigma\left(\epsilon^2 + \left(\frac{P}{m} \cdot \epsilon\right)^2\right)}{2\left(s^2 + \sigma^2\right)} + iP \cdot \epsilon\right),$$
(107)

where we have discarded $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$ and $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^3)$ terms in the imaginary and real parts of the exponent, respectively, and $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$ terms in other places. We observe the plane-wave behavior, $e^{iP\cdot\epsilon}$, and we obtain the Gaussian suppression factor: $\exp\left[-\frac{\sigma}{2(s^2+\sigma^2)}\left(\epsilon^2 + \left(\frac{P}{m}\cdot\epsilon\right)^2\right)\right]$. It is noteworthy that the more we go along the trajectory x = X + sP (namely the larger the |s| is), the larger the spatial width-squared $\sim (s^2 + \sigma^2)/\sigma$ of this Gaussian factor becomes.

For a wave-packet scattering, we may parametrize each of the incoming waves, a, and of the outgoing ones, b, such that the scattering occurs (i.e. the wave packets overlap) around finite region $|s_a| \sim |s_b| < \infty$. If the scattering occurs within a large time interval, the in and out asymptotic states are given by $s_a \rightarrow -\infty$ and $s_b \rightarrow \infty$, respectively. In such a case, we may approximate an in-coming/out-going wave packet by the near plane wave (107) better and better, whereas they still interact as wave packets rather than plane waves.

Thirdly, for the plane-wave expansion with large σ , the argument becomes¹⁹

$$\|\Xi\| = \sigma m^2 - iP \cdot (x - X) + \frac{(x - X)^2}{2\sigma} + \frac{(P \cdot (x - X))^2}{2\sigma m^2} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\sigma^2}\right),$$
(108)

where we have taken up to the order of leading non-trivial real part, and the wave function becomes

$$\langle\!\langle x \mid X, \mathbf{P} \rangle\!\rangle \simeq \frac{\left(\frac{\sigma}{\pi}\right)^{\frac{d}{4}}}{\sqrt{2} (\sigma m)^{d-\frac{1}{2}}} e^{iP \cdot (x-X) - \frac{1}{2\sigma} (x-X)^2 - \frac{(P \cdot (x-X))^2}{2\sigma m^2}}.$$
(109)

The corresponding probability density is

$$\left| \langle\!\langle x | \sqrt{2E_{\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}}} | X, \boldsymbol{P} \rangle\!\rangle \right|^2 \simeq \frac{E_{\boldsymbol{P}} \left(\frac{\sigma}{\pi}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}}}{(\sigma m)^{\frac{d}{2}-1}} e^{-\frac{1}{\sigma} (x-X)^2 - \frac{(\boldsymbol{P} \cdot (x-X))^2}{\sigma m^2}},$$
(110)

where we have used the completeness (37).

In particular on the line x = X + Ps, with *s* being a real parameter, the quadratic terms of *s* cancel out in the exponent in Eq. (109):

$$\langle\!\langle x \mid X, \boldsymbol{P} \rangle\!\rangle \propto \frac{\left(\frac{\sigma}{\pi}\right)^{\frac{d}{4}}}{\sqrt{2} \left(\sigma m\right)^{d-\frac{1}{2}}} e^{-im^2 s}.$$
(111)

As promised, we have confirmed that the wave function does not receive the Gaussian suppression along this particle trajectory. We stress that in this sense, the Lorentz-invariant wave packet is not localized in time, just as the Gaussian wave packet reviewed in Sect. 2.3.

¹⁹ On the other hand, when we take the non-relativistic limit $m \to \infty$ first, we get $\|\Xi\| = \sigma m^2 + im (x^0 - X^0) - i \mathbf{P} \cdot (\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{X}) + \frac{(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{X})^2}{2\sigma} + \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{m}).$

If we furthermore take the non-relativistic limit in the exponent of the large- σ expansion (109), it becomes

$$iP \cdot (x - X) - \frac{(x - X - V(x^0 - X^0))^2}{2\sigma} - \frac{(V \cdot (x - X))^2}{2\sigma} + \mathcal{O}(|V|^3), \quad (112)$$

where $P^0 = m + \frac{m}{2}V^2 + \cdots$. Comparing with the Gaussian wave packet (60), we see that the extra suppression factor

$$\exp\left(-\frac{(V\cdot(x-X))^2}{2\sigma}\right) \tag{113}$$

appears from the Lorentz-invariant wave packet, and the center of the Lorentz-invariant wave packet departs from the particle trajectory $X - V(x^0 - X^0)$ of the Gaussian wave packet (60).

Finally, in the particle/ultra-relativistic limit $\sigma m^2 \rightarrow 0$, we get

$$\langle\!\langle x \,|\, X, \, \boldsymbol{P} \rangle\!\rangle \to \frac{\left(\sigma m^3\right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}{\sqrt{\left(\frac{d-3}{2}\right)!}} \frac{K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{\|\Xi\|^{\frac{d-1}{2}}},$$
(114)

where the argument goes to $\|\Xi\| \to m\sqrt{(x-X)^2 - 2i\sigma P \cdot (x-X)}$. If we furthermore take the relativistic limit $m \to 0$, we get²⁰ We have

$$\|\Xi\| \to m\sqrt{(x-X)^2} \left(1 - i\frac{\sigma P \cdot (x-X)}{(x-X)^2} + \cdots\right);$$

when timelike, $(x - X)^2 < 0$,

$$\|\Xi\| \to -im \operatorname{sgn}(P \cdot (x - X))\sqrt{-(x - X)^2}$$
$$\left(1 + i\frac{\sigma P \cdot (x - X)}{-(x - X)^2} + \cdots\right);$$

and when lightlike $(x - X)^2 = 0$,

$$\|\Xi\| \to m\sqrt{-2i\sigma P \cdot (x-X)} \left(1 + i\frac{\sigma m^2}{4P \cdot (x-X)} + \cdots\right).$$

$$\langle\!\langle x \mid X, \boldsymbol{P} \rangle\!\rangle \to \frac{\sqrt{\Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)}}{2} \left(\frac{2\sigma m}{(x-X)^2 - 2i\sigma P \cdot (x-X)}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}}.$$
(115)

4 Uncertainty relations

We show how the uncertainty relation changes for the Lorentz-invariant wave packet. We study the momentum and position uncertainties in the first two subsections and then discuss the uncertainty relation in the next. Lastly, we comment on the time-energy uncertainty.

4.1 Momentum (co)variance

We want to compute the momentum expectation value $\langle \hat{p}^{\mu} \rangle$ and its (co)variance (recall that we have been taking all the momenta on-shell, and hence $\hat{p}^0 = E_{\hat{p}} = \sqrt{m^2 + \hat{p}^2}$:

$$\langle \left(\hat{p}^{\mu} - \langle \hat{p}^{\mu} \rangle\right) \left(\hat{p}^{\nu} - \langle \hat{p}^{\nu} \rangle\right) \rangle = \langle \hat{p}^{\mu} \hat{p}^{\nu} \rangle - \langle \hat{p}^{\mu} \rangle \langle \hat{p}^{\nu} \rangle, \quad (116)$$

where, for any operator \hat{O} , we write the expectation value with respect to $|X, P\rangle$ as

$$\langle \hat{\mathcal{O}} \rangle := \langle \langle X, \boldsymbol{P} | \ \hat{\mathcal{O}} | X, \boldsymbol{P} \rangle \rangle.$$
 (117)

Since we identify the Schrödinger, Heisenberg, and interaction pictures at $x^0 = 0$, the expectation value (117) corresponds to a measurement on the spacelike hyperplane $\Sigma_{(0)}$. A measurement on a different time slice $\Sigma_{(x^0)}$ is given by

$$\langle \hat{\mathcal{O}}_{\mathrm{H}} \left(x^{0} \right) \rangle := \langle \! \langle X, \boldsymbol{P} | e^{i \hat{H} x^{0}} \hat{\mathcal{O}} e^{-i \hat{H} x^{0}} | X, \boldsymbol{P} \rangle \! \rangle.$$
(118)

As we only consider free propagation of the waves, $\hat{H} =$ \hat{H}_{free} , this is the same as

$$\langle \hat{\mathcal{O}}_{\mathrm{I}} \left(x^{0} \right) \rangle := \langle \! \langle X, \boldsymbol{P} | e^{i \hat{H}_{\mathrm{free}} x^{0}} \hat{\mathcal{O}} e^{-i \hat{H}_{\mathrm{free}} x^{0}} | X, \boldsymbol{P} \rangle \! \rangle$$
(119)

for our application. In particular when \hat{O} only contains momentum operators such that $\left| \hat{O}, \hat{H}_{\text{free}} \right| = 0$, the expectation value becomes time independent, $\langle \hat{O} \rangle = \langle \hat{O}_{I}(x^{0}) \rangle$. First, we write

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \hat{p}^{\mu_{1}}\cdots\hat{p}^{\mu_{n}}\right\rangle &= \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}\boldsymbol{p}}{2E_{\boldsymbol{p}}} \left| \left\langle \left\langle \boldsymbol{p} \mid \boldsymbol{X}, \, \boldsymbol{P} \right\rangle \right\rangle \right|^{2} p^{\mu_{1}}\cdots p^{\mu_{n}} \\ &= N_{\sigma}^{2} m^{d-1+n} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}\boldsymbol{u}}{2u^{0}} e^{2\sigma m \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{P}} u^{\mu_{1}}\cdots u^{\mu_{n}}, \end{split}$$

$$(120)$$

Deringer

 $[\]overline{^{20}}$ On the other hand, first taking the particle limit $\sigma \rightarrow 0$ is tricky due to the branch cut: When x is located at a spacelike distance from X, namely $(x - X)^2 > 0$,

where u = p/m is the *D*-velocity with $u^0 = \sqrt{1 + u^2}$. To compute the above, we take derivatives of the master integral (93):

$$\mathcal{I}^{\mu_1\dots\mu_n}(\Xi) := \frac{\partial^n}{\partial \Xi_{\mu_1}\cdots\partial \Xi_{\mu_n}} \mathcal{I}(\Xi)$$
$$= \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d \boldsymbol{u}}{2u^0} e^{\boldsymbol{u}\cdot\Xi} u^{\mu_1}\cdots u^{\mu_n}, \qquad (121)$$

where Ξ is off-shell. Once this is obtained, we may substitute $\Xi = 2\sigma mP$, which is "on-shell", $||\Xi|| = \sqrt{-\Xi^2} = 2\sigma m^2$.

From Eqs. (205) and (206) in Appendix B, we read

$$\langle \hat{p}^{\mu} \rangle = m \frac{\mathcal{I}^{\mu}(2\sigma m P)}{\mathcal{I}(2\sigma m P)}$$

$$= \frac{K_{\frac{d+1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)} P^{\mu},$$
(122)

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \hat{p}^{\mu} \, \hat{p}^{\nu} \right\rangle &= m^{2} \frac{\mathcal{L}^{\mu\nu} \left(2\sigma m P \right)}{\mathcal{I}(2\sigma m P)} \\ &= \left(\frac{\eta^{\mu\nu}}{2\sigma} \frac{K_{\frac{d+1}{2}} (\|\Xi\|)}{K_{\frac{d-1}{2}} (\|\Xi\|)} + P^{\mu} P^{\nu} \frac{K_{\frac{d+3}{2}} (\|\Xi\|)}{K_{\frac{d-1}{2}} (\|\Xi\|)} \right), \end{split}$$
(123)

where $\|\Xi\| = 2\sigma m^2$, and hence

$$\langle \hat{p}^{\mu} \hat{p}^{\nu} \rangle - \langle \hat{p}^{\mu} \rangle \langle \hat{p}^{\nu} \rangle = \frac{\eta^{\mu\nu}}{2\sigma} \frac{K_{\frac{d+1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)} + P^{\mu} P^{\nu} \left(\frac{K_{\frac{d+3}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)} - \left(\frac{K_{\frac{d+1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)} \right)^2 \right).$$
(124)

Note that contraction of Eq. (123) with the flat metric $\eta_{\mu\nu}$ gives $\eta_{\mu\nu} \langle \hat{p}^{\mu} \hat{p}^{\nu} \rangle = -m^2$ as it should, due to the Bessel identity (208). We see that, for a fixed σ and m, the (co)variance (124) becomes larger and larger for $|P| \to \infty$ due to the second term. Furthermore, even the off-diagonal covariance for $\mu \neq \nu$ is non-zero. This is due to the fact that, with $P \neq 0$, the Lorentz-invariant wave packet is boosted and is not spherically symmetric in the momentum space, unlike the Gaussian wave packet (56). The above results agree with Eqs. (4.4) and (4.5) in Ref. [6].

From Eq. (122), we obtain

$$-\left\langle \hat{p}\right\rangle^{2} = m^{2} \left(\frac{K_{\frac{d+1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}\right)^{2} \ge m^{2},$$
(125)

where the equality holds in the plane-wave/non-relativistic limit $||\Xi|| = 2\sigma m^2 \rightarrow \infty$. It is curious that the mass constructed from the expectation value of *D*-momentum

 $\langle p^{\mu} \rangle$ becomes larger than the "intrinsic" mass *m*, no matter whether the particle is at rest **P** = 0 or not. This fact has been pointed out in Ref. [17].

In the plane-wave/non-relativistic expansion for large $\|\Xi\| = 2\sigma m^2$, we get

$$\langle \hat{p}^{\mu} \rangle = \left(1 + \frac{d}{2 \|\Xi\|} + \frac{d (d-2)}{8 \|\Xi\|^2} + \cdots \right) P^{\mu},$$
(126)
$$\langle \hat{p}^{\mu} \hat{p}^{\nu} \rangle = \frac{\eta^{\mu\nu}}{2\sigma} \left(1 + \frac{d}{2 \|\Xi\|} + \frac{d (d-2)}{8 \|\Xi\|^2} + \cdots \right)$$

$$+ P^{\mu} P^{\nu} \left(1 + \frac{d+1}{\|\Xi\|} + \frac{d (d+1)}{2 \|\Xi\|^2} + \cdots \right),$$
(127)

and hence,

$$\langle \hat{p}^{\mu} \hat{p}^{\nu} \rangle - \langle \hat{p}^{\mu} \rangle \langle \hat{p}^{\nu} \rangle = \frac{\eta^{\mu\nu}}{2\sigma} \left(1 + \frac{d}{2 \|\Xi\|} + \frac{d (d-2)}{8 \|\Xi\|^2} + \cdots \right)$$

+ $P^{\mu} P^{\nu} \left(\frac{1}{\|\Xi\|} + \frac{d}{\|\Xi\|^2} + \cdots \right),$ (128)

where the dots denote terms of order $||\Xi||^{-3}$. As a crosscheck, we can derive from Eq. (127) that

$$\left\langle \hat{\boldsymbol{p}}^{2} + m^{2} \right\rangle = \frac{d}{2\sigma} + \boldsymbol{P}^{2} + m^{2} + \frac{d+1}{2\sigma m^{2}} \boldsymbol{P}^{2} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\sigma^{2}}\right),$$
(129)
$$\left\langle \left(\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}^{0}\right)^{2} \right\rangle = -\frac{1}{2\sigma} + \left(\boldsymbol{P}^{0}\right)^{2} + \frac{d+1}{2\sigma m^{2}} \left(\boldsymbol{P}^{0}\right)^{2} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\sigma^{2}}\right),$$
(130)

and we see that the two coincide.

We show the result of the plane-wave expansion with large σ in Eq. (124):

$$\begin{split} \langle \hat{p}^{\mu} \hat{p}^{\nu} \rangle - \langle \hat{p}^{\mu} \rangle \langle \hat{p}^{\nu} \rangle &= \frac{1}{2\sigma} \left(\eta^{\mu\nu} + \frac{P^{\mu} P^{\nu}}{m^2} \right) \\ &+ \frac{d}{8\sigma^2 m^2} \left(\eta^{\mu\nu} + \frac{2P^{\mu} P^{\nu}}{m^2} \right) + \mathcal{O} \left(\frac{1}{\sigma^3} \right) \end{split}$$
(131)

That is,

$$\begin{split} \langle \hat{p}_{i} \, \hat{p}_{j} \rangle - \langle \hat{p}_{i} \rangle \langle \hat{p}_{j} \rangle &= \frac{1}{2\sigma} \left(\delta_{ij} + \frac{P_{i} P_{j}}{m^{2}} \right) \\ &+ \frac{d}{8\sigma^{2}m^{2}} \left(1 + \frac{2P_{i} P_{j}}{m^{2}} \right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\sigma^{3}} \right), \end{split}$$
(132)
$$\\ \left\langle \left(\hat{p}^{0} \right)^{2} \right\rangle - \left\langle \hat{p}^{0} \right\rangle^{2} &= \frac{P^{2}}{2\sigma m^{2}} \end{split}$$

$$+\frac{d}{8\sigma^2 m^2}\left(1+\frac{2\mathbf{P}^2}{m^2}\right)+\mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\sigma^3}\right).$$
(133)

If we instead perform the non-relativistic expansion for large m in Eq. (124), we obtain

$$\left\langle \hat{p}^{i} \hat{p}^{j} \right\rangle - \left\langle \hat{p}^{i} \right\rangle \left\langle \hat{p}^{j} \right\rangle = \frac{\delta^{ij}}{2\sigma} + \frac{P^{i} P^{j}}{2\sigma m^{2}} + \frac{d}{8\sigma^{2}m^{2}} \delta^{ij} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{m^{4}}\right),$$

$$(134)$$

$$\left\langle \left(\hat{p}^{0} \right)^{2} \right\rangle - \left\langle \hat{p}^{0} \right\rangle^{2} = \frac{P^{2}}{2\sigma m^{2}} + \frac{d}{8\sigma^{2}m^{2}} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{m^{4}}\right).$$

$$(135)$$

Several comments are in order: The first term in Eq. (134) reproduces the momentum variance for the ordinary Gaussian wave packet, which is spherically symmetric $\propto \delta_{ij}$. The second term shows that even the off-diagonal covariance for $i \neq j$ is non-zero, due to the boost in the momentum space mentioned above. The first term in the energy variance (133) is also due to the boost, and it is canceled out when we take the Lorentz invariant combination $\langle \hat{p}^2 \rangle - \langle \hat{p} \rangle^2 (= -m^2 - \langle \hat{p} \rangle^2)$: By subtracting the two sides of Eq. (133) from those of Eq. (134) contracted with δ_{ij} , we obtain

$$-\langle \hat{p} \rangle^{2} = m^{2} + \frac{d}{2\sigma} + \frac{d(d-1)}{8\sigma^{2}m^{2}} + \cdots .$$
(136)

As mentioned above, we see that the mass constructed from the expectation value of $\langle \hat{p}^{\mu} \rangle$ is increased from the intrinsic mass *m*.

4.2 Position (co)variance

Now let us compute the expectation value $\langle \hat{x}^i \rangle$ and its covariance:

$$\left\langle \left(\hat{x}^{i} - \left\langle \hat{x}^{j} \right\rangle\right) \left(\hat{x}^{j} - \left\langle \hat{x}^{j} \right\rangle\right) \right\rangle = \left\langle \hat{x}^{i} \hat{x}^{j} \right\rangle - \left\langle \hat{x}^{i} \right\rangle \left\langle \hat{x}^{j} \right\rangle.$$
(137)

First,

$$\begin{aligned} \left\langle \hat{x}^{i} \right\rangle &= \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} \boldsymbol{p}}{2E_{\boldsymbol{p}}} \left\langle \left\langle X, \boldsymbol{P} \mid \boldsymbol{p} \right\rangle \right\rangle \left\langle \left\langle \boldsymbol{p} \mid \hat{x}^{i} \mid X, \boldsymbol{P} \right\rangle \right\rangle \\ &= \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} \boldsymbol{p}}{2E_{\boldsymbol{p}}} \left\langle \left\langle X, \boldsymbol{P} \mid \boldsymbol{p} \right\rangle \right\rangle i \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial p_{i}} - \frac{p^{i}}{2E_{\boldsymbol{p}}^{2}} \right) \left\langle \left\langle \boldsymbol{p} \mid X, \boldsymbol{P} \right\rangle \right\rangle \\ &= X^{i} - \left\langle \frac{u^{i}}{u^{0}} \right\rangle X^{0}, \end{aligned}$$
(138)

where we write

$$\left\langle \frac{u^{i_1} \dots u^{i_\ell}}{\left(u^0\right)^n} \right\rangle := m^{n-\ell} \left\langle \frac{\hat{p}^{i_1} \dots \hat{p}^{i_\ell}}{\left(\hat{p}^0\right)^n} \right\rangle,\tag{139}$$

and we have used the following identity:²¹

$$2m\sigma P^{i} - 2m\sigma E_{P}\left\langle\frac{u^{i}}{u^{0}}\right\rangle - \left\langle\frac{u^{i}}{\left(u^{0}\right)^{2}}\right\rangle = 0.$$
(140)

We have defined \hat{x} as a time-independent Schrödingerpicture operator in a certain frame. Therefore the expectation value (138) should correspond to measurement in an equal-time slice in this frame, and hence the appearance of the non-covariant velocity $\left\langle \frac{u}{u^0} \right\rangle$ rather than the covariant one $\left\langle \frac{u}{m} \right\rangle$. As we identify the Schrödinger, Heisenberg, and interaction pictures at $x^0 = 0$, the expectation value (138) corresponds to the measurement on the spacelike hyperplane $\Sigma_{(0)}$. If we instead consider the time-dependent operator $\hat{x}_1(x^0) := e^{i\hat{H}_{\text{free}}x^0} \hat{x} e^{-i\hat{H}_{\text{free}}x^0}$ in the interaction picture, we obtain

$$\left\langle \hat{x}_{1}^{i}(x^{0}) \right\rangle = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{a} \boldsymbol{p}}{2E_{\boldsymbol{p}}} \langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{X}, \boldsymbol{P} | \boldsymbol{p} \rangle\!\rangle \langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{p} | e^{i\hat{H}_{\mathrm{frec}}x^{0}} \hat{x}^{i} e^{-i\hat{H}_{\mathrm{frec}}x^{0}} | \boldsymbol{X}, \boldsymbol{P} \rangle\!\rangle$$

$$= X^{i} + \left\langle \frac{u^{i}}{u^{0}} \right\rangle \left(x^{0} - X^{0} \right).$$

$$(141)$$

Second, we may similarly compute

$$\begin{aligned} \left\langle \hat{x}^{i} \hat{x}^{j} \right\rangle &= \int \mathrm{d}^{d} \boldsymbol{p} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial p^{i}} \frac{\langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{X}, \boldsymbol{P} \mid \boldsymbol{p} \rangle\!\rangle}{\sqrt{2E_{\boldsymbol{p}}}} \right) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial p^{j}} \frac{\langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{p} \mid \boldsymbol{X}, \boldsymbol{P} \rangle\!\rangle}{\sqrt{2E_{\boldsymbol{p}}}} \right) \\ &= N_{\sigma}^{2} m^{d-3} \int \mathrm{d}^{d} \boldsymbol{u} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial u^{i}} \frac{e^{m \boldsymbol{u} \cdot (\boldsymbol{\sigma} \boldsymbol{P} + i\boldsymbol{X})}}{\sqrt{2u^{0}}} \right) \\ &\times \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial u^{j}} \frac{e^{m \boldsymbol{u} \cdot (\boldsymbol{\sigma} \boldsymbol{P} - i\boldsymbol{X})}}{\sqrt{2u^{0}}} \right). \end{aligned}$$
(142)

Using $\frac{\partial}{\partial u^{i}} \frac{e^{mu \cdot (\sigma^{P} + iX)}}{\sqrt{2u^{0}}} = e^{imu \cdot X} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial u^{i}} \frac{e^{m\sigma u \cdot P}}{\sqrt{2u^{0}}} + im \frac{\partial (u \cdot X)}{\partial u^{i}} \frac{e^{m\sigma u \cdot P}}{\sqrt{2u^{0}}} \right],$ we can show that $\Im \left\langle \hat{x}^{i} \hat{x}^{j} \right\rangle = 0$. Then we obtain

$$\left\langle \hat{x}^{i} \hat{x}^{j} \right\rangle = \left\langle \left(\sigma \left(P_{i} - P^{0} \frac{u_{i}}{u^{0}} \right) - \frac{u_{i}}{2m \left(u^{0} \right)^{2}} \right) \right. \\ \left. \times \left(\sigma \left(P_{j} - P^{0} \frac{u_{j}}{u^{0}} \right) - \frac{u_{j}}{2m \left(u^{0} \right)^{2}} \right) \right. \\ \left. + \left(X_{i} - X^{0} \frac{u_{i}}{u^{0}} \right) \left(X_{j} - X^{0} \frac{u_{j}}{u^{0}} \right) \right\rangle$$

²¹ This may be derived for a general (timelike) *D*-vector Ξ as

$$\int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} \boldsymbol{u}}{2u^{0}} e^{\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \Xi} \left(\Xi^{i} - \Xi^{0} \frac{u^{i}}{u^{0}} - \frac{u^{i}}{(u^{0})^{2}} \right) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} \boldsymbol{u}}{2u^{0}} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial u^{i}} - \frac{u^{i}}{(u^{0})^{2}} \right) e^{\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \Xi}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \int \mathrm{d}^{d} \boldsymbol{u} \frac{\partial}{\partial u^{i}} \left(\frac{e^{\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \Xi}}{u^{0}} \right) = 0,$$

and then putting the "on-shell" value $\Xi = 2\sigma m P$. Recall that p and u are on-shell.

$$= X_{i}X_{j} + \left(X^{0}\right)^{2} \left\langle \frac{u_{i}u_{j}}{\left(u^{0}\right)^{2}} \right\rangle$$

$$- X_{i}X^{0} \left\langle \frac{u_{j}}{u^{0}} \right\rangle - X_{j}X^{0} \left\langle \frac{u_{i}}{u^{0}} \right\rangle$$

$$+ \sigma^{2}P_{i}P_{j} - \sigma^{2} \left\langle \frac{u_{i}}{u^{0}} \right\rangle P^{0}P_{j} - \sigma^{2} \left\langle \frac{u_{j}}{u^{0}} \right\rangle P^{0}P_{i}$$

$$+ \sigma^{2} \left(P^{0}\right)^{2} \left\langle \frac{u_{i}u_{j}}{\left(u^{0}\right)^{2}} \right\rangle$$

$$- \frac{\sigma P_{i}}{2m} \left\langle \frac{u_{j}}{\left(u^{0}\right)^{2}} \right\rangle - \frac{\sigma P_{j}}{2m} \left\langle \frac{u_{i}}{\left(u^{0}\right)^{2}} \right\rangle$$

$$+ \frac{\sigma P^{0}}{m} \left\langle \frac{u_{i}u_{j}}{\left(u^{0}\right)^{3}} \right\rangle + \frac{1}{4m^{2}} \left\langle \frac{u_{i}u_{j}}{\left(u^{0}\right)^{4}} \right\rangle, \quad (143)$$

and hence²²

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \hat{x}^{i} \hat{x}^{j} \right\rangle - \left\langle \hat{x}^{i} \right\rangle \left\langle \hat{x}^{j} \right\rangle &= \left(X^{0} \right)^{2} \left(\left\langle \frac{u_{i} u_{j}}{(u^{0})^{2}} \right\rangle - \left\langle \frac{u_{i}}{u^{0}} \right\rangle \left\langle \frac{u_{j}}{u^{0}} \right\rangle \right) \\ &- \sigma^{2} P_{i} P_{j} + \sigma^{2} \left(P^{0} \right)^{2} \left\langle \frac{u_{i} u_{j}}{(u^{0})^{2}} \right\rangle \\ &+ \frac{\sigma P^{0}}{m} \left\langle \frac{u_{i} u_{j}}{(u^{0})^{3}} \right\rangle + \frac{1}{4m^{2}} \left\langle \frac{u_{i} u_{j}}{(u^{0})^{4}} \right\rangle, \end{split}$$
(144)

where we have used the identities (140) and

$$0 = 2m\sigma P_i \left\langle \frac{1}{(u^0)^{n-1}} \right\rangle - 2m\sigma P^0 \left\langle \frac{u_i}{(u^0)^n} \right\rangle - n \left\langle \frac{u_i}{(u^0)^{n+1}} \right\rangle.$$
(145)

In this paper, we compute the expectation value (138) and the (co)variance (144) using the saddle-point method for large σ :

$$\left\langle \hat{x}^{i} \right\rangle = X^{i} - X^{0} \frac{P^{i}}{P^{0}} \left[1 - \frac{1}{2\sigma \left(P^{0}\right)^{2}} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\sigma^{2}}\right) \right], \quad (146)$$

$$\left\langle \hat{x}^{i} \hat{x}^{j} \right\rangle - \left\langle \hat{x}^{i} \right\rangle \left\langle \hat{x}^{j} \right\rangle = \frac{\sigma}{2} \left(\delta_{ij} - \frac{P_{i} P_{j}}{\left(P^{0}\right)^{2}} \right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\sigma^{0}\right). \quad (147)$$

Especially for the variance i = j,

$$\left\langle \left(\hat{x}_{i}\right)^{2}\right\rangle - \left\langle \hat{x}_{i}\right\rangle^{2} = \frac{\sigma}{2} \left(1 - \frac{P_{i}^{2}}{E_{P}^{2}}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\sigma^{0}\right), \qquad (148)$$

²² The last three terms in Eq. (144) may be recast into the form $\frac{1}{4m^2} \left\langle \frac{u_i u_j (1+\Xi^0 u^0)^2}{(u^0)^4} \right\rangle$ with $\Xi = 2\sigma m P$ but we compute it as is.

where *i* is not summed. One may find the detailed derivation in Appendix B. Especially, we have used Eq. (255) to compute $\left\langle \frac{u^i}{u^0} \right\rangle = \frac{\mathcal{I}_{(1)}^i}{\mathcal{I}_{(0)}} = \frac{\Xi^i}{\Xi^0} \left(1 - \frac{\|\Xi\|}{(\Xi^0)^2} + \cdots \right)$ with $\Xi = 2m\sigma P$ and $\|\Xi\| = 2\sigma m^2$ for $\langle \hat{x}^i \rangle$, and similarly Eq. (256) for $\langle \hat{x}^i \hat{x}^j \rangle$. The result (148) implies that if we measure the position uncertainty along the direction of P, it is Lorentz-contracted by the factor m/E_P , compared to the measurement transverse to P [16, 17, 26].

4.3 Uncertainty relation

Finally combining Eqs. (132) and (148), the uncertainty relation on the time slice $\Sigma_{(0)}$ becomes

$$\sqrt{\left\langle \left(\hat{x}_{i}\right)^{2}\right\rangle - \left\langle \hat{x}_{i}\right\rangle^{2}} \sqrt{\left\langle \left(\hat{p}_{i}\right)^{2}\right\rangle - \left\langle \hat{p}_{i}\right\rangle^{2}} = \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\left(1 - \frac{P_{i}^{2}}{E_{P}^{2}}\right) \left(1 + \frac{P_{i}^{2}}{m^{2}}\right)} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\sigma}\right),$$
(149)

where *i* is not summed. In the non-relativistic limit, we see that the terms of order P^2/m^2 cancel out:

$$\sqrt{\left\langle \left(\hat{x}_{i}\right)^{2}\right\rangle - \left\langle \hat{x}_{i}\right\rangle^{2}} \sqrt{\left\langle \left(\hat{p}_{i}\right)^{2}\right\rangle - \left\langle \hat{p}_{i}\right\rangle^{2}} = \frac{1}{2} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\left(\boldsymbol{P}^{2}\right)^{2}}{m^{4}}\right),\tag{150}$$

where *i* is not summed. The ordinary minimum uncertainty for the Gaussian wave is recovered in the non-relativistic limit.

When we measure along a direction n with |n| = 1 and $n \cdot P = |P| \cos \theta$,

$$\frac{\sqrt{\langle (\hat{x}_{n})^{2} \rangle - \langle \hat{x}_{n} \rangle^{2}}}{= \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\left(1 - \frac{|\boldsymbol{P}|^{2} \cos^{2} \theta}{E_{\boldsymbol{P}}^{2}}\right) \left(1 + \frac{|\boldsymbol{P}|^{2} \cos^{2} \theta}{m^{2}}\right)} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\sigma}\right),$$
(151)

where we write $A_n := n \cdot A$ for any spatial vector A. We see that the uncertainty is minimized to 1/2 when we measure along the directions $\theta = 0$, $\pi/2$, and π ; namely, when it is either parallel or perpendicular to P.

4.4 Time-energy uncertainty

Before proceeding, we comment on the time uncertainty. The Lorentz-invariant wave packet is not localized in time as discussed above, and therefore the expectation value of time " \hat{x}^{0} " for this wave packet is ill-defined, just as the expectation

value of position is ill-defined for a plane wave.²³ However, we can show that the energy uncertainty (133) is matched with the uncertainty of the time at which this wave packet passes through a certain point x. Suppose we are at x = Xand see the wave packet passing through it around the time $x^0 \sim X^0$. Then the probability density on each $\Sigma_{(x^0)}$ along the worldline x = X becomes

$$\left| \langle\!\langle x | \sqrt{2E_{\hat{p}}} | X, \boldsymbol{P} \rangle\!\rangle \right|^2 \simeq \frac{\left(\frac{\sigma}{\pi}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}} E_{\boldsymbol{P}}}{(\sigma m)^{2d-1}} e^{-\frac{\boldsymbol{P}^2}{\sigma m^2} \left(x^0 - X^0\right)^2}.$$
 (152)

From the exponent, we see that the timelike width-squared is $(\Delta t)^2 \simeq \frac{\sigma m^2}{2P^2}$. Comparing with the energy uncertainty (133), we see that the time-energy uncertainty takes the minimum value for the position-momentum one at the leading order:

$$\Delta t \,\Delta p^0 \simeq \frac{1}{2}.\tag{153}$$

It would also be interesting to consider a wave-packet scattering. Then what is localized in time is not each wave packet but an *overlap* of the wave packets: This kind of time-like width-squared of the overlap region is given as σ_t in Ref. [4] and as ζ_{in} , ζ_{out} in Refs. [2,5] for the Gaussian wave packets. This will be pursued in a separate publication.

5 Completeness of Lorentz-invariant basis

Let us discuss the completeness on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. We will prove the following manifestly Lorentz-invariant completeness relation:

$$\int_{\Sigma_X} \frac{\mathrm{d}^d \Sigma_X^{\mu}}{(2\pi)^d} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d \boldsymbol{P}}{2E_{\boldsymbol{P}}} \langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{p} \mid \boldsymbol{X}, \boldsymbol{P} \rangle\!\rangle \left(2i \frac{\partial}{\partial X^{\mu}}\right) \langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{X}, \boldsymbol{P} \mid \boldsymbol{q} \rangle\!\rangle = \langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{p} \mid \boldsymbol{q} \rangle\!\rangle, \tag{154}$$

where Σ_X is an arbitrary spacelike hyperplane in the X space and $d^d \Sigma_X^{\mu}$ is a *d*-volume element that is normal to Σ_X . In the language of differential forms, $d^d \Sigma_{X\mu} = -\star dX_{\mu} =$ $-\frac{1}{d!} \epsilon_{\mu\mu_1 \dots \mu_d} dX^{\mu_1} \wedge \dots \wedge dX^{\mu_d}$; see Eq. (38) and below; see also Ref. [27] for discussion on Lorentz invariance of the phase space volume. In other words,

$$\int_{\Sigma_X} \frac{\mathrm{d}^d \Sigma_X^{\mu}}{(2\pi)^d} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d \boldsymbol{P}}{2E_{\boldsymbol{P}}} |X, \boldsymbol{P}\rangle \left(2i\frac{\partial}{\partial X^{\mu}}\right) \langle\!\langle X, \boldsymbol{P}| = \hat{1}, (155)$$

where the right-hand side is the identity operator in the free one-particle subspace. Now the Lorentz-friendly plane wave is expanded as

$$|\boldsymbol{p}\rangle\rangle = \int_{\Sigma_X} \frac{\mathrm{d}^d \Sigma_X^{\mu}}{(2\pi)^d} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d \boldsymbol{P}}{2E_{\boldsymbol{P}}} |X, \boldsymbol{P}\rangle\rangle \left(2i\frac{\partial}{\partial X^{\mu}}\right) \langle\!\langle X, \boldsymbol{P} | \boldsymbol{p}\rangle\!\rangle.$$
(156)

The completeness (154) can be rewritten as

$$N_{\sigma}^{2} \int_{\Sigma_{X}} \frac{-2q_{\mu} \mathrm{d}^{d} \Sigma_{X}^{\mu}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} \mathbf{P}}{2E_{\mathbf{P}}} e^{-ip \cdot (X+i\sigma P)} e^{iq \cdot (X-i\sigma P)}$$
$$= 2E_{\mathbf{p}} \delta^{d} (\mathbf{p} - \mathbf{q}) , \qquad (157)$$

The proof of Eq. (157) is as follows: Noting that the lefthand side of Eq. (157) is manifestly Lorentz invariant (recall Eq. (27)), we may choose Σ to be a constant X^0 -plane without loss of generality:

$$N_{\sigma}^{2} \int \frac{2E_{q} d^{d} X}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{d^{d} P}{2E_{P}} e^{i(E_{p}-E_{q})X^{0}} e^{-i(p-q)\cdot X} e^{\sigma(p+q)\cdot P}$$

$$= 2E_{p} \delta^{d}(p-q) N_{\sigma}^{2} \int \frac{d^{d} P}{2E_{P}} e^{2\sigma p \cdot P}$$

$$= 2E_{p} \delta^{d}(p-q) . \qquad (158)$$

We may rewrite the completeness relation (155) in a different fashion:

$$M_{\sigma}^{2} \int_{\Sigma_{X}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} \Sigma_{X}^{\mu}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} \boldsymbol{P}}{2E_{\boldsymbol{P}}} \left(-2P_{\mu}\right) |X, \boldsymbol{P}\rangle\rangle \langle\!\langle X, \boldsymbol{P} | = \hat{1},$$
(159)

where

$$M_{\sigma} := \frac{1}{N_{\sigma}} \sqrt{\frac{K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(2\sigma m^2)}{K_{\frac{d+1}{2}}(2\sigma m^2)}} = \frac{K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(2\sigma m^2)}{\left(\frac{\sigma}{\pi}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{4}}\sqrt{K_{\frac{d+1}{2}}(2\sigma m^2)}}.$$
(160)

To show this, we may sandwich the two sides by $\langle | \boldsymbol{p} |$ and $| \boldsymbol{q} \rangle$, take the frame where Σ_X becomes a constant- X^0 plane, and use Eq. (205).²⁴

The completeness (155) on the one-particle subspace $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ can be naturally generalized to that on the whole Fock space \mathcal{H} as follows. When we define $\widehat{\mathcal{A}}_{X,P}$ by

$$\widehat{\mathcal{A}}_{X,\boldsymbol{P}}^{\dagger} \left| 0 \right\rangle := \left| X, \boldsymbol{P} \right\rangle , \tag{161}$$

²³ In the current on-shell formulation, the free one-particle Hilbert space is spanned within a *d*-dimensional spatial hyperplane that is a fixed-time surface in a certain Lorentz frame: On an arbitrary spatial hyperplane Σ , integral of the probability density becomes unity, $\int_{\Sigma} d\Sigma^{\mu} \langle \langle X, P | x \rangle \rangle 2i \partial_{\mu} \langle \langle x | X, P \rangle = 1$; see Eq. (38). It might be interesting to develop an off-shell formulation spanned within the whole enlarged *D*-dimensional spacetime and to discuss the uncertainty relation between time and energy more directly there.

²⁴ This computation is inspired by Ref. [6].

with mass dimensions $\left[\widehat{\mathcal{A}}_{X,P}\right] = \left[|X, P\rangle\right] = 0$, we obtain²⁵

$$\widehat{\mathcal{A}}_{X,P} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d p}{2E_p} \langle\!\langle X, P \mid p \rangle\!\rangle \widehat{\alpha}_p$$
(162)

and

$$\widehat{\alpha}_{\boldsymbol{p}} = \int_{\Sigma} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} \Sigma^{\mu}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} \boldsymbol{P}}{2E_{\boldsymbol{P}}} \left(-2i \frac{\partial}{\partial X^{\mu}} \left\langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{p} \mid \boldsymbol{X}, \boldsymbol{P} \right\rangle\!\rangle \right) \widehat{\mathcal{A}}_{\boldsymbol{X}, \boldsymbol{P}}.$$
(163)

Now we get

$$\begin{bmatrix} \widehat{\mathcal{A}}_{X,P} , \ \widehat{\mathcal{A}}_{X',P'}^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} p}{2E_{p}} \langle\!\langle X, P \mid p \rangle\!\rangle \\ \times \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} p'}{2E_{p'}} \langle\!\langle p' \mid X', P' \rangle\!\rangle \left[\widehat{\alpha}_{p} , \ \widehat{\alpha}_{p'}^{\dagger} \right] \\ = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} p}{2E_{p}} \langle\!\langle X, P \mid p \rangle\!\rangle \langle\!\langle p \mid X', P' \rangle\!\rangle \widehat{1} \\ = \langle\!\langle X, P \mid X', P' \rangle\!\rangle \widehat{1}.$$
(164)

Putting Eq. (163) into the expansion (27), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \widehat{\phi}(x) &= \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} \boldsymbol{p}}{2E_{\boldsymbol{p}}} \left[\langle\!\langle x \mid \boldsymbol{p} \rangle\!\rangle \int_{\Sigma} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} \Sigma^{\mu}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} \boldsymbol{P}}{2E_{\boldsymbol{p}}} \right. \\ & \times \left(-2i \frac{\partial}{\partial X^{\mu}} \langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{p} \mid X, \boldsymbol{P} \rangle\!\rangle \right) \widehat{\mathcal{A}}_{X,\boldsymbol{P}} + \mathrm{h.c.} \right] \\ &= \left[\int_{\Sigma} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} \Sigma^{\mu}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} \boldsymbol{P}}{2E_{\boldsymbol{p}}} \left(-2i \frac{\partial}{\partial X^{\mu}} \langle\!\langle x \mid X, \boldsymbol{P} \rangle\!\rangle \right) \widehat{\mathcal{A}}_{X,\boldsymbol{P}} + \mathrm{h.c.} \right]. \end{split}$$
(165)

Using $\frac{d}{dz} \frac{K_{\underline{d-1}}(z)}{z^{\underline{d-1}}} = -\frac{K_{\underline{d+1}}(z)}{z^{\underline{d-1}}}$, we may obtain the explicit form of the above expansion coefficient:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial X^{\mu}} \langle\!\langle x \mid X, \boldsymbol{P} \rangle\!\rangle = \frac{1}{(4\pi\sigma)^{\frac{d-1}{4}}} \frac{\left(2\sigma m^{2}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}{\sqrt{2\pi K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(2\sigma m^{2})}} \frac{K_{\frac{d+1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{\|\Xi\|^{\frac{d+1}{2}}} \times m \left(x - X - i\sigma P\right)_{\mu},$$
(166)

where $||\Xi|| = m\sqrt{(x - X - i\sigma P)^2}$; see Eqs. (103) and (105).

The branch cut for the square-root in the argument is along

$$(x - X) \cdot P = 0,$$
 $(x - X)^2 - \sigma^2 P^2 < 0,$ (167)

that is,

$$(x - X) \cdot P = 0, \quad (\mathbf{x} - X)^2 + \sigma^2 m^2 < (x^0 - X^0)^2.$$

(168)

In a coordinate system x' that is a rest frame for P, the cut is along

$$x'^{0} = X'^{0}, \quad (\mathbf{x}' - \mathbf{X}')^{2} + \sigma^{2}m^{2} < 0.$$
 (169)

This is never satisfied and hence we are never on the cut; see also the last paragraph in Appendix B.1.

To cultivate some intuition, we show the case of Σ_X being a constant- X^0 plane:

$$\widehat{\phi}(x) = \frac{2m^d \left(\frac{\sigma}{\pi}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{4}}}{\sqrt{2\pi K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(2\sigma m^2)}}$$

$$\times \left[\int_{\Sigma_X} \frac{\mathrm{d}^d X}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{\mathrm{d}^d P}{2E_P} \frac{K_{\frac{d+1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{\|\Xi\|^{\frac{d+1}{2}}} \left(\sigma E_P + i \left(x^0 - X^0\right)\right) \widehat{\mathcal{A}}_{X,P} + \mathrm{h.c.} \right].$$
(170)

6 Summary and discussion

We have proposed a Lorentz-invariant generalization of the Gaussian wave packet. This Lorentz-invariant wave packet has a more natural dependence on the central position X and momentum P than the coherent state in the position–momentum space: The dependence is holomorphic through the variable $X + i\sigma P$ if we further generalize it for a time-like off-shell momentum P.

We have obtained the wave function for the Lorentzinvariant wave packet in an closed analytic form, as well as their inner products. The wave function is localized in space but not in time, while its width becomes larger and larger as the time is more and more apart from X^0 .

We have computed the expectation value and (co)variance of momentum for this state in a closed analytic form, and those of position in the saddle-point approximation. They reduce to the minimum position-momentum uncertainty of the corresponding Gaussian wave packet in the nonrelativistic limit. The time-energy uncertainty takes the same minimum value at the leading order in the large width expansion.

We have managed to obtain the completeness relation for these Lorentz-invariant wave packets in a manifestly Lorentz-invariant fashion. It would be interesting to use the complete set of the Lorentz-invariant wave packets instead of the Gaussian ones in the decay and scattering processes ana-

²⁵ To show it, we first expand as $\widehat{\mathcal{A}}_{X,P} = \int \frac{d^d p}{2E_p} f_p(X, P) \widehat{\alpha}_p$. Putting this into $\langle\!\langle p | \widehat{\mathcal{A}}_{X,P}^{\dagger} | 0 \rangle = \langle\!\langle p | X, P \rangle\!\rangle$, we get $f_p^*(X, P) = \langle\!\langle p | X, P \rangle\!\rangle$, that is, $f_p(X, P) = \langle\!\langle X, P | p \rangle\!\rangle$.

lyzed so far. It would be worth applying to the wave packets in neutrino physics too.

Acknowledgements We thank Koichi Hamaguchi, Kenzo Ishikawa, and Kenji Nishiwaki for useful discussion. The work of K.O. is in part supported by JSPS Kakenhi Grant No. 19H01899.

Data Availability Statement This manuscript has no associated data or the data will not be deposited. [Authors' comment: This is a theoretical study and no experimental data has been listed.]

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. Funded by SCOAP³.

Appendix A: More on coherent states

We define the displacement operator:

$$\hat{D}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) := e^{\frac{\boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot \hat{a}^{\dagger} - \boldsymbol{\alpha}^{*} \cdot \hat{a}}{2|\lambda|^{2}}}.$$
(171)

Note that $\hat{D}^{\dagger}(\alpha) = \hat{D}(-\alpha)$. Using the Baker–Campbell–Hausdorff formula,

$$e^{\hat{A}}e^{\hat{B}} = e^{\hat{A} + \hat{B} + \frac{1}{2} \left[\hat{A}, \, \hat{B} \right]},\tag{172}$$

for the case of $\begin{bmatrix} \hat{A} \\ \hat{B} \end{bmatrix}$ being a (commuting) number, we can show that \hat{D} is unitary, $\hat{D}\hat{D}^{\dagger} = \hat{D}^{\dagger}\hat{D} = \hat{1}$, and that

$$\hat{D}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) = e^{-\frac{|\boldsymbol{\alpha}|^2}{4|\lambda|^2}} e^{\frac{\boldsymbol{\alpha}\cdot\hat{a}^{\dagger}}{2|\lambda|^2}} e^{-\frac{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^*\cdot\hat{a}}{2|\lambda|^2}}$$
$$= e^{\frac{|\boldsymbol{\alpha}|^2}{4|\lambda|^2}} e^{-\frac{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^*\cdot\hat{a}}{2|\lambda|^2}} e^{\frac{\boldsymbol{\alpha}\cdot\hat{a}^{\dagger}}{2|\lambda|^2}},$$
(173)

$$\hat{D}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})\,\hat{D}(\boldsymbol{\beta}) = e^{\frac{\boldsymbol{\alpha}\cdot\boldsymbol{\beta}^* - \boldsymbol{\alpha}^*\cdot\boldsymbol{\beta}}{4|\lambda|^2}}\hat{D}(\boldsymbol{\alpha} + \boldsymbol{\beta})\,,\tag{174}$$

where we have defined $|\boldsymbol{\alpha}|^2 := \boldsymbol{\alpha}^* \cdot \boldsymbol{\alpha} = \sum_{i=1}^d |\alpha_i|^2$. We then get

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\alpha} \mid \boldsymbol{\beta} \rangle = \langle \varphi \mid \hat{D}(-\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \, \hat{D}(\boldsymbol{\beta}) \mid \varphi \rangle$$

$$= e^{\frac{-\boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot \boldsymbol{\beta}^* + \boldsymbol{\alpha}^* \cdot \boldsymbol{\beta}}{4|\lambda|^2}} \langle \varphi \mid \hat{D}(-\boldsymbol{\alpha} + \boldsymbol{\beta}) \mid \varphi \rangle$$

$$= e^{\frac{-\boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot \boldsymbol{\beta}^* + \boldsymbol{\alpha}^* \cdot \boldsymbol{\beta}}{2}} e^{-\frac{|\boldsymbol{\alpha} - \boldsymbol{\beta}|^2}{2}} = e^{-\frac{|\boldsymbol{\alpha}|^2 + |\boldsymbol{\beta}|^2}{4|\lambda|^2}} e^{\frac{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^* \cdot \boldsymbol{\beta}}{2|\lambda|^2}}.$$
(175)

The ground state of the harmonic oscillator $|\varphi\rangle$ is given by

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{a}} \left| \boldsymbol{\varphi} \right\rangle = 0. \tag{176}$$

That is, $|\varphi\rangle = |\alpha\rangle|_{\alpha=0}$, namely

$$\langle \boldsymbol{x} \mid \varphi \rangle = \frac{1}{(\pi \sigma)^{\frac{d}{4}}} e^{-\frac{\boldsymbol{x}^2}{2\sigma}}, \quad \langle \varphi \mid \boldsymbol{p} \rangle = \left(\frac{\pi}{\sigma}\right)^{\frac{d}{4}} e^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}\boldsymbol{p}^2}.$$
(177)

From the commutator

$$\begin{bmatrix} \widehat{a}_i , \ \hat{D}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \end{bmatrix} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \begin{bmatrix} \widehat{a}_i , \left(\frac{\boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{a}}^{\dagger} - \boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{a}}}{2 |\lambda|^2} \right)^n \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} n \frac{\alpha_j [\widehat{a}_i , \widehat{a}_j^{\dagger}]}{2 |\lambda|^2} \left(\frac{\boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{a}}^{\dagger} - \boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{a}}}{2 |\lambda|^2} \right)^{n-1}$$
$$= \alpha_i \hat{D}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) , \qquad (178)$$

we see that $\hat{a}_i \hat{D}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) | \varphi \rangle = \alpha_i \hat{D}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) | \varphi \rangle$, namely,

$$|\boldsymbol{\alpha}\rangle = \hat{D}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) |\varphi\rangle \tag{179}$$

and that the similarity transformation of the annihilation operator results in its displacement:

$$\hat{D}^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})\,\hat{\boldsymbol{a}}\,\hat{D}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) = \hat{\boldsymbol{a}} + \boldsymbol{\alpha}.$$
(180)

In this sense, $|\alpha\rangle$ is the ground state of the harmonic oscillator displaced by α .

Appendix B: Master integral

We encounter an integral of the form

$$I(\check{\Xi}) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d \boldsymbol{p}}{2E_{\boldsymbol{p}}} e^{\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\check{\Xi}}$$
(181)

where p is on-shell and $\stackrel{\circ}{\Xi}$ is an arbitrary complex D-vector of mass dimension -1. For a massive particle $p^2 = -m^2 < 0$, it is more convenient to use the D-velocity u := p/m as an integration variable. Hereafter, we always take u "on-shell", $u^2 = -1$ and $u^0 = \sqrt{1 + u^2}$, unless otherwise stated. Let us define

$$\mathcal{I}(\Xi) := \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d \boldsymbol{u}}{2u^0} e^{\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \Xi} = \int \mathrm{d}^D \boldsymbol{u} \,\delta\!\left(\boldsymbol{u}^2 + 1\right) \theta\!\left(\boldsymbol{u}^0\right) e^{\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \Xi},\tag{182}$$

where *u* is on-shell and off-shell for the first and second integrals, respectively, and Ξ is a dimensionless complex *D*-vector. Trivially substituting $\Xi = m \check{\Xi}$, we get

$$I\left(\check{\Xi}\right) = m^{d-1}\mathcal{I}\left(m\check{\Xi}\right).$$
(183)

So far we have not put any kind of on-shell condition on Ξ , and hence

$$\frac{\partial \|\Xi\|}{\partial \Xi^{\mu}} = -\frac{\Xi_{\mu}}{\|\Xi\|},\tag{184}$$

where $\|\Xi\| := \sqrt{-\Xi^2} = \sqrt{(\Xi^0)^2 - \Xi^2}$ as given in the main text.

We write $\Re \Xi =: \mathcal{P}$ and $\Im \Xi =: \mathcal{Q}$, which later will correspond to some momentum and position, respectively:

$$\Xi = \mathcal{P} + i\mathcal{Q}.\tag{185}$$

Trivially, $\Xi^2 = (\mathcal{P} + i\mathcal{Q})^2 = \mathcal{P}^2 + 2i\mathcal{P}\cdot\mathcal{Q} - \mathcal{Q}^2.$

B.1 Evaluation of master integral

We focus on the case of \mathcal{P} being timelike, $\mathcal{P}^2 = -(\mathcal{P}^0)^2 + \mathcal{P}^2 < 0$, and future-oriented, $\mathcal{P}^0 > 0$, so that there exists a (proper orthochronous) Lorentz transformation Λ to the "rest frame" $\widetilde{\mathcal{P}} = (\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^0, \mathbf{0})$ with $\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^0 = ||\mathcal{P}|| > 0$ such that $\Lambda \mathcal{P} = \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}$. For a given \mathcal{P} , concrete form of Λ is, in matrix notation,

$$\Lambda = \begin{bmatrix} U^0 & -U^t \\ -U \ \hat{1} + (U^0 - 1) \ \hat{U} \ \hat{U}^t \end{bmatrix},$$
(186)

where $U := \mathcal{P}/||\mathcal{P}||$, $\hat{U} := U/|U|$, $\hat{1}$ is the *d*-dimensional unit matrix, and $U^0 = \sqrt{1 + U^2}$; see e.g. Ref. [28]. We write $\tilde{\mathcal{Q}} := \Lambda \mathcal{Q}$ and $\tilde{\Xi} := \tilde{\mathcal{P}} + i\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}$. Note that $\tilde{\mathcal{P}} = 0$ implies $\tilde{\Xi} = i\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}$. On the other hand, we leave \mathcal{Q} to be an arbitrary real *D* vector.

We change the integration variable to $\widetilde{u} := \Lambda u$. Using the Lorentz invariance of the integration measure etc. as well as $(\Lambda^{-1}\widetilde{u}) \cdot \Xi = \widetilde{u} \cdot (\Lambda \Xi) = \widetilde{u} \cdot \widetilde{\Xi}$, we get

$$\mathcal{I} = \int \mathrm{d}^{D} \widetilde{u} \,\delta\left(\widetilde{u}^{2} + 1\right) \theta\left(\widetilde{u}^{0}\right) e^{\widetilde{u} \cdot \widetilde{\Xi}}.$$
(187)

Using $\widetilde{u} \cdot \widetilde{\Xi} = -\widetilde{u}^0 \widetilde{\Xi}^0 + \widetilde{u} \cdot \widetilde{\Xi} = -\widetilde{u}^0 \widetilde{\Xi}^0 + i \widetilde{u} \cdot \widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}$ and renaming \widetilde{u} by u, we get

$$\mathcal{I} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d} \boldsymbol{u}}{2\sqrt{1+\boldsymbol{u}^{2}}} e^{-\sqrt{1+\boldsymbol{u}^{2}}\widetilde{\Xi}^{0}+i\boldsymbol{u}\cdot\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}}}}$$
$$= \Omega_{d-1} \int_{0}^{\pi} \frac{\sin^{d-2}\theta \,\mathrm{d}\theta}{\sqrt{\pi}\,\Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)/\,\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)}$$

🖄 Springer

$$\times \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\mathsf{u}^{d-1} \mathrm{d} \mathsf{u}}{2\sqrt{1+\mathsf{u}^{2}}} e^{-\sqrt{1+\mathsf{u}^{2}}\widetilde{\Xi}^{0}+i\mathsf{u}} |\widetilde{\mathbf{\mathcal{Q}}}|^{\cos\theta}, \qquad (188)$$

where $\Omega_{d-1} = 2\pi^{\frac{d}{2}} / \Gamma(\frac{d}{2})$ is the area of a unit (d-1)-sphere (boundary of unit *d*-ball).

We follow Ref. [23] in the following. The angular integral reads

$$\int_{0}^{\pi} \sin^{d-2} \theta \, \mathrm{d}\theta \, e^{i\mathbf{u}\left|\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}}}\right|\cos\theta}$$
$$= \sqrt{\pi} \, \Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right) \left(\frac{2}{\mathbf{u}\left|\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}}}\right|}\right)^{\frac{d-2}{2}} J_{\frac{d-2}{2}}\left(\mathbf{u}\left|\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}}}\right|\right), \qquad (189)$$

where J is the Bessel function of the first kind. (For d = 3, the right-hand side comes back to the familiar form $2\sin(\mathbf{u}|\widetilde{\mathbf{Q}}|)/\mathbf{u}|\widetilde{\mathbf{Q}}|$.) Now

$$\mathcal{I} = \frac{\Omega_{d-1}\Gamma(\frac{d}{2})}{2} \left(\frac{2}{|\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}}}|}\right)^{\frac{d-2}{2}} \times \int_{1}^{\infty} \left(\varepsilon^{2}-1\right)^{\frac{d-2}{2}} \mathrm{d}\varepsilon J_{\frac{d-2}{2}}\left(\sqrt{\varepsilon^{2}-1}|\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}}}|\right) e^{-\varepsilon\widetilde{\Xi}^{0}},$$
(190)

where $\varepsilon := \sqrt{1 + u^2}$ is a rescaled energy. We use the second formula of Eq. (6.645) in Ref. [29]:

$$\int_{1}^{\infty} dx \left(x^{2} - 1\right)^{\frac{\nu}{2}} e^{-\alpha x} J_{\nu} \left(\beta \sqrt{x^{2} - 1}\right)$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \beta^{\nu} \left(\alpha^{2} + \beta^{2}\right)^{-\frac{2\nu+1}{4}} K_{\frac{2\nu+1}{2}} \left(\sqrt{\alpha^{2} + \beta^{2}}\right), \quad (191)$$

applicable for $\Re \alpha > 0$. Setting $\alpha = \widetilde{\Xi}^0$, $\beta = \left| \widetilde{\mathcal{Q}} \right|$, and $\nu = \frac{d-2}{2}$, we get

$$\mathcal{I}(\Xi) = (2\pi)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \frac{K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{\|\Xi\|^{\frac{d-1}{2}}},$$
(192)

where we used

$$(\widetilde{\Xi}^{0})^{2} + \widetilde{\mathbf{Q}}^{2} = (\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{0})^{2} + 2i\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{0}\widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}^{0} - (\widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}^{0})^{2} + \widetilde{\mathbf{Q}}^{2}$$

$$= -\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{2} - 2i\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}\cdot\widetilde{\mathcal{Q}} + \widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}^{2}$$

$$= -\widetilde{\Xi}^{2} = -\Xi^{2} = \|\Xi\|^{2}.$$

$$(193)$$

The limit $\|\Xi\| \to \infty$ is

$$\mathcal{I} \to (2\pi)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} \frac{e^{-\|\Xi\|}}{\|\Xi\|^{\frac{d}{2}}} \left(1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\|\Xi\|}\right)\right), \tag{194}$$

whereas $\|\Xi\| \to 0$ gives

$$\mathcal{I} \to (2\pi)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \frac{2^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)}{\|\Xi\|^{d-1}} \left(1 + \mathcal{O}(\|\Xi\|)\right) + \mathcal{O}(\ln\|\Xi\|) \,.$$
(195)

Recall that we are assuming $d \ge 2$.

Throughout this paper, we choose to place a branch-cut for a square root, say \sqrt{z} , on the negative real axis of z-plane: For $-\pi < \theta < \pi$ and $r \ge 0$,

$$\sqrt{re^{i\theta}} := \sqrt{r}e^{i\theta/2}.$$
(196)

In particular we may use the following limit for $y \rightarrow 0$ under x > 0:

$$\sqrt{-x - iy} \rightarrow -i \operatorname{sgn}(y) \sqrt{x} \left(1 + i \frac{y}{2x} + \cdots \right).$$
 (197)

Then for Eq. (93), the condition on the argument to be on the real axis is

$$0 \stackrel{!}{=} \Im\left(-\Xi^{2}\right) = \Im\left(-\widetilde{\Xi}^{2}\right) = 2\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{0}\widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}^{0}.$$
(198)

As $\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^0 > 0$, we see that $\widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}^0 = 0$ is it. However, the real part of the argument on the real axis ($\widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}^0 = 0$) is positive:

$$\Re\left(-\Xi^{2}\right) = \Re\left(-\widetilde{\Xi}^{2}\right) = \left(\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{0}\right)^{2} + \widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}^{2} > 0.$$
(199)

To summarize, no ambiguity arises from the branch cut as long as \mathcal{P} is timelike: $\mathcal{P}^2 < 0$. More in general, we may perform analytic continuation of the result (93) so long as $\Im (-\Xi^2) \propto \mathcal{P} \cdot \mathcal{Q} \neq 0$ or $\Re (-\Xi^2) = \mathcal{Q}^2 - \mathcal{P}^2 > 0$. On the other hand, possible non-triviality arises when $\mathcal{Q}^2 < \mathcal{P}^2$ (< 0) in the limit $\mathcal{P} \cdot \mathcal{Q} \rightarrow 0$:

$$\sqrt{-\Xi^{2}} = \sqrt{-\mathcal{P}^{2} - 2i\mathcal{P}\cdot\mathcal{Q} + \mathcal{Q}^{2}}$$

$$\rightarrow -i \operatorname{sgn}(\mathcal{P}\cdot\mathcal{Q}) \sqrt{\mathcal{P}^{2} - \mathcal{Q}^{2}}$$

$$\left(1 + i\frac{\mathcal{P}\cdot\mathcal{Q}}{\mathcal{P}^{2} - \mathcal{Q}^{2}} + \cdots\right).$$
(200)

B.2 Derivative of master integral

We define

$$\mathcal{I}^{\mu_1\dots\mu_n}(\Xi) := \frac{\partial^n}{\partial \Xi_{\mu_1}\cdots\partial \Xi_{\mu_n}} \mathcal{I}(\Xi) \,. \tag{201}$$

We note that

$$\mathcal{I}^{\mu_1\dots\mu_n}(\Xi) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d \boldsymbol{u}}{2u^0} e^{\boldsymbol{u}\cdot\Xi} u^{\mu_1}\cdots u^{\mu_n}$$

$$= \int \mathrm{d}^{D} u \,\delta\left(u^{2}+1\right) \theta\left(u^{0}\right) e^{u \cdot \Xi} u^{\mu_{1}} \cdots u^{\mu_{n}},$$
(202)

where u is on-shell and off-shell in the first and second integrals, respectively. Using

$$\frac{d\mathcal{I}}{d \|\Xi\|} = -(2\pi)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \frac{K_{\frac{d+1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{\|\Xi\|^{\frac{d-1}{2}}},$$
$$\frac{d^{2}\mathcal{I}}{d \|\Xi\|^{2}} = (2\pi)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \left[-\frac{K_{\frac{d+1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{\|\Xi\|^{\frac{d+1}{2}}} + \frac{K_{\frac{d+3}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{\|\Xi\|^{\frac{d-1}{2}}} \right] (203)$$

and

$$\frac{\partial \|\Xi\|}{\partial \Xi_{\mu}} = -\frac{\Xi^{\mu}}{\|\Xi\|}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 \|\Xi\|}{\partial \Xi_{\mu} \partial \Xi_{\nu}} = -\frac{1}{\|\Xi\|} \left(\eta^{\mu\nu} - \frac{\Xi^{\mu} \Xi^{\nu}}{\Xi^2}\right), \tag{204}$$

we obtain

$$\mathcal{I}^{\mu} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{I}}{\partial \Xi_{\mu}} = (2\pi)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \frac{K_{\frac{d+1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{\|\Xi\|^{\frac{d+1}{2}}} \Xi^{\mu}, \qquad (205)$$
$$\mathcal{I}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{\partial^{2}\mathcal{I}}{\partial \Xi_{\mu}\partial \Xi_{\nu}} = \frac{\partial^{2}\|\Xi\|}{\partial \Xi_{\mu}\partial \Xi_{\nu}} \frac{d\mathcal{I}}{d\|\Xi\|} + \frac{\partial \|\Xi\|}{\partial \Xi_{\mu}} \frac{\partial \|\Xi\|}{\partial \Xi_{\nu}} \frac{d^{2}\mathcal{I}}{d\|\Xi\|^{2}} = (2\pi)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \left[\eta^{\mu\nu} \frac{K_{\frac{d+1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{\|\Xi\|^{\frac{d+1}{2}}} - \frac{\Xi^{\mu}\Xi^{\nu}}{\Xi^{2}} \frac{K_{\frac{d+3}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{\|\Xi\|^{\frac{d-1}{2}}} \right]. \tag{205}$$

By construction, we have the identity

$$\eta_{\mu\nu}\mathcal{I}^{\mu\nu} = -\mathcal{I},\tag{207}$$

namely,

$$(d+1)\frac{K_{\frac{d+1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{\|\Xi\|} - K_{\frac{d+3}{2}}(\|\Xi\|) = -K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|),$$
(208)

which is exactly the identity that the modified Bessel function satisfies.

B.3 Integral of master integral

For later convenience, we define

$$\mathcal{I}_{(n)}^{\nu_1 \cdots \nu_\ell}(\Xi) := \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d \boldsymbol{u}}{2u^0} e^{\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \Xi} \frac{\boldsymbol{u}^{\nu_1} \cdots \boldsymbol{u}^{\nu_\ell}}{\left(\boldsymbol{u}^0\right)^n}$$
(209)

for an arbitrary complex *D*-vector Ξ that is not necessarily on-shell, while *u* as always is: $u^0 = \sqrt{1 + u^2}$. This integral

is Lorentz-covariant when and only when n = 0. Note that $\mathcal{I}_{(0)}^{\nu_1 \cdots \nu_\ell}(\Xi) = \mathcal{I}^{\nu_1 \cdots \nu_\ell}(\Xi)$ and $\mathcal{I}_{(0)}(\Xi) = \mathcal{I}(\Xi)$.²⁶ We note that

$$\mathcal{I}_{(n)}^{\nu_1 \cdots \nu_\ell}(\Xi) = \frac{\partial^\ell}{\partial \Xi_{\nu_1} \cdots \partial \Xi_{\nu_\ell}} \mathcal{I}_{(n)}(\Xi) , \qquad (210)$$

where indices are not summed.²⁷

B.3.1 Saddle-point method

We compute $\mathcal{I}_{(n)}(\Xi)$ in the large $||\Xi||$ expansion. Concretely, we compute the following integral using the saddle-point method in the limit $\lambda \gg 1$:

$$\mathcal{I}_{(n)}(\lambda\Theta) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d \boldsymbol{u}}{2u^0} e^{\lambda \boldsymbol{u}\cdot\Theta} \frac{1}{\left(u^0\right)^n} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d \boldsymbol{u}}{2} e^F, \qquad (211)$$

where

$$F := \lambda u \cdot \Theta - (n+1) \ln u^0.$$
(212)

Note that Θ is "off-shell" in the sense that Θ^0 is treated as an independent variable. For reference, we list the derivatives of exponent before setting to the saddle point:

$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial u^{i}} = \lambda \left(\Theta_{i} - \frac{u_{i}}{u^{0}} \Theta^{0} \right) - (n+1) \frac{u_{i}}{(u^{0})^{2}}, \tag{213}$$
$$\frac{\partial^{2} F}{\partial u^{i}} = -\delta_{ii} \left(\lambda \frac{\Theta^{0}}{\partial u^{i}} + \frac{n+1}{u^{i}} \right) + u_{i} u_{i} \left(\lambda \frac{\Theta^{0}}{\partial u^{i}} + 2\frac{n+1}{u^{i}} \right)$$

$$\frac{\partial u^{i} \partial u^{j}}{\partial u^{i} \partial u^{j}} = -\delta_{ij} \left(\lambda \frac{u^{0}}{u^{0}} + \frac{u^{0}}{(u^{0})^{2}} \right) + u_{i} u_{j} \left(\lambda \frac{u^{0}}{(u^{0})^{3}} + 2 \frac{u^{0}}{(u^{0})^{4}} \right),$$
(214)

$$\frac{\partial^{3} F}{\partial u^{i} \partial u^{j} \partial u^{k}} = \left(\delta_{ij} u_{k} + \delta_{jk} u_{i} + \delta_{ki} u_{j}\right) \left(\frac{\lambda \Theta^{0}}{\left(u^{0}\right)^{3}} + \frac{2\left(n+1\right)}{\left(u^{0}\right)^{4}}\right)$$
$$- u_{i} u_{j} u_{k} \left(\frac{3\lambda \Theta^{0}}{\left(u^{0}\right)^{5}} + \frac{8\left(n+1\right)}{\left(u^{0}\right)^{6}}\right), \tag{215}$$

$$\frac{\partial^4 F}{\partial u^i \partial u^j \partial u^k \partial u^\ell} = \left(\delta_{ij} \delta_{k\ell} + \delta_{jk} \delta_{i\ell} + \delta_{ki} \delta_{j\ell}\right) \left(\frac{\lambda \Theta^0}{\left(u^0\right)^3} + \frac{2(n+1)}{\left(u^0\right)^4}\right) \\
- \left(\delta_{ij} u_k u_\ell + \delta_{jk} u_i u_\ell + \delta_{ki} u_j u_\ell + \delta_{i\ell} u_j u_k + \delta_{j\ell} u_i u_k + \delta_{k\ell} u_i u_j\right) \\
\times \left(\frac{3\lambda \Theta^0}{\left(u^0\right)^5} + \frac{8(n+1)}{\left(u^0\right)^6}\right) \\
+ u_i u_j u_k u_\ell \left(\frac{15\lambda \Theta^0}{\left(u^0\right)^7} + \frac{48(n+1)}{\left(u^0\right)^8}\right),$$
(216)

and the eigenvalues of the Hessian (214) are (d-1)-fold degenerate $-\lambda \frac{\Theta^0}{u^0} - \frac{n+1}{(u^0)^2}$ and a single $-\frac{\lambda \Theta^0}{(u^0)^3} + (n+1)\left(\frac{1}{(u^0)^2} - \frac{2}{(u^0)^4}\right)$.

²⁶ Comparing with the previous notation, $\langle \hat{p}^{\mu_1} \cdots \hat{p}^{\mu_n} \rangle = m^n \mathcal{I}^{\mu_1 \cdots \mu_n} (2\sigma m P) / \mathcal{I} (2\sigma m P).$

²⁷ There also exists the relation $\frac{\partial^k}{\partial \Xi_0^k} \mathcal{I}_{(n)}^{\nu_1 \dots \nu_\ell}(\Xi) = \mathcal{I}_{(n-k)}^{\nu_1 \dots \nu_\ell}(\Xi).$

To obtain the saddle point, we solve

$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial u^{i}} = \lambda \left(\Theta_{i} - \frac{u_{i}}{u^{0}} \Theta^{0} \right) - (n+1) \frac{u_{i}}{\left(u^{0} \right)^{2}} \stackrel{!}{=} 0.$$
(217)

We put an ansatz

$$u_*^i = \Theta^i \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{C_n}{\lambda^n}$$
(218)

to get the solution

$$C_{0} = \frac{1}{\|\Theta\|}, \quad C_{1} = -\frac{n+1}{\|\Theta\|^{2}},$$

$$C_{2} = \frac{(n+1)^{2}}{2\|\Theta\|^{3}} \left(1 + \frac{\|\Theta\|^{2}}{(\Theta^{0})^{2}}\right), \quad C_{3} = -\frac{(n+1)^{3}}{(\Theta^{0})^{4}}, \quad (219)$$

etc.²⁸ Then, at the saddle point,

$$e^{F_*} = e^{-\lambda \|\Theta\|} \left(\frac{\|\Theta\|}{\Theta^0}\right)^{n+1} \left(1 + \frac{(n+1)^2}{2\lambda \|\Theta\|} \frac{\Theta^2}{\left(\Theta^0\right)^2} + \cdots\right).$$
(220)

Around the saddle point, we expand the integrand for large λ :

$$e^{F} = e^{F_{*} + \frac{1}{2}\Delta u_{i}M_{ij}\Delta u_{j}} \left[1 + \frac{1}{3!} \frac{\partial^{3}F_{*}}{\partial u^{i}\partial u^{j}\partial u^{k}} \Delta u_{i}\Delta u_{j}\Delta u_{k} \right. \\ \left. + \frac{1}{4!} \frac{\partial^{4}F_{*}}{\partial u^{i}\partial u^{j}\partial u^{k}\partial u^{\ell}} \Delta u_{i}\Delta u_{j}\Delta u_{k}\Delta u_{\ell} \right. \\ \left. + \frac{1}{23!3!} \left(\frac{\partial^{3}F_{*}}{\partial u^{i}\partial u^{j}\partial u^{k}} \Delta u_{i}\Delta u_{j}\Delta u_{k} \right)^{2} + \cdots \right], \quad (221)$$

where we have shifted the variables as $\Delta u := u - u_*$ and have neglected terms of order $1/\lambda^2$, with Δu being counted as $1/\sqrt{\lambda}$. The derivatives at the saddle point are

$$\frac{\partial^2 F}{\partial u^i \partial u^j} \Big|_* = -\lambda \|\Theta\| \left(\delta_{ij} - \frac{\Theta_i \Theta_j}{(\Theta^0)^2} \right) - (n+1) \left(\delta_{ij} - \frac{\Theta^2}{(\Theta^0)^2} \frac{\Theta_i \Theta_j}{(\Theta^0)^2} \right) + \cdots = -\lambda \|\Theta\| \delta_{ij} \left(1 + \frac{n+1}{\lambda \|\Theta\|} + \cdots \right)$$

²⁸ Without large λ expansion, we may directly put $u^i = C \Theta^i$:

$$\lambda \left(1 - C \frac{\Theta^0}{\sqrt{1 + C^2 \Theta^2}} \right) - (n+1) \frac{C}{1 + C^2 \Theta^2} = 0.$$

We may write down analytic solutions for *C* explicitly, but we show the results for large λ since the analytic one is too lengthy.

$$+ \lambda \|\Theta\| \frac{\Theta_i \Theta_j}{(\Theta^0)^2} \left(1 + \frac{n+1}{\lambda \|\Theta\|} \frac{\Theta^2}{(\Theta^0)^2} + \cdots \right),$$
(222)

$$\frac{\partial^{3} F}{\partial u^{i} \partial u^{j} \partial u^{k}}\Big|_{*} = \left(\delta_{ij}\Theta_{k} + \delta_{jk}\Theta_{i} + \delta_{ki}\Theta_{j}\right)\left(\lambda\frac{\|\Theta\|^{2}}{(\Theta^{0})^{2}} + \cdots\right)$$

$$+ \Theta_{i}\Theta_{j}\Theta_{k}\left(-3\lambda\frac{\|\Theta\|^{2}}{(\Theta^{0})^{4}} + \cdots\right), \qquad (223)$$

$$\frac{\partial^{4} F}{\partial u^{i} \partial u^{j} \partial u^{k} \partial u^{\ell}}\Big|_{*} = \left(\delta_{ij}\delta_{k\ell} + \delta_{jk}\delta_{i\ell} + \delta_{ki}\delta_{j\ell}\right)\left(\frac{\lambda\|\Theta\|^{3}}{(\Theta^{0})^{2}} + \cdots\right)$$

$$- \left(\delta_{ij}\Theta_{k}\Theta_{\ell} + \delta_{jk}\Theta_{i}\Theta_{\ell} + \delta_{ki}\Theta_{j}\Theta_{\ell} + \delta_{ki}\Theta_{j}\Theta_{\ell} + \delta_{i\ell}\Theta_{j}\Theta_{\ell} + \delta_{i\ell}\Theta_{j}\Theta_{\ell} + \delta_{j\ell}\Theta_{i}\Theta_{k} + \delta_{k\ell}\Theta_{i}\Theta_{j}\right)$$

$$\left(\frac{3\lambda\|\Theta\|^{3}}{(\Theta^{0})^{4}} + \cdots\right) + \Theta_{i}\Theta_{j}\Theta_{k}\Theta_{\ell}\left(\frac{15\lambda\|\Theta\|^{3}}{(\Theta^{0})^{6}} + \cdots\right). \qquad (224)$$

Let *M* be the Hessian at the saddle point:

$$M_{ij} := \left. \frac{\partial^2 F}{\partial u^i \partial u^j} \right|_*. \tag{225}$$

We write the eigenvectors and eigenvalues of M as

$$MV^{(n)} = -\lambda^{(n)}V^{(n)},$$
(226)

in which n is not summed. Then we may diagonalize M as

$$R^{t}MR = \tilde{M} \tag{227}$$

where

$$\widetilde{M} := \begin{bmatrix} -\lambda^{(1)} & \\ & \ddots & \\ & & -\lambda^{(d)} \end{bmatrix}, \quad R := \begin{bmatrix} V^{(1)} \cdots V^{(d)} \end{bmatrix}. \quad (228)$$

Here, *R* is a complex orthogonal matrix $R^{t}R = 1$. Now we may change the variables as

$$\frac{1}{2}\Delta u_i M_{ij} \Delta u_j = \frac{1}{2}\widetilde{\Delta u}_i \widetilde{M}_{ij} \widetilde{\Delta u}_j = -\frac{\lambda^{(n)}}{2}\widetilde{\Delta u}_n^2, \qquad (229)$$

with

$$\Delta u_i = R_{ij} \widetilde{\Delta u}_j. \tag{230}$$

Then we obtain

$$\frac{1}{3!} \frac{\partial^{3} F_{*}}{\partial u^{i} \partial u^{j} \partial u^{k}} \Delta u_{i} \Delta u_{j} \Delta u_{k}
= \frac{1}{3!} \frac{\widetilde{\partial^{4} F_{*}}}{\partial u^{i} \partial u^{j} \partial u^{k}} \widetilde{\Delta u_{i}} \widetilde{\Delta u_{j}} \widetilde{\Delta u_{k}},$$

$$\frac{1}{4!} \frac{\partial^{4} F_{*}}{\partial u^{i} \partial u^{j} \partial u^{k} \partial u^{\ell}} \Delta u_{i} \Delta u_{j} \Delta u_{k} \Delta u_{\ell}$$
(231)

$$=\frac{1}{4!}\frac{\widetilde{\partial^4 F_*}}{\partial u^i \partial u^j \partial u^k \partial u^\ell}\widetilde{\Delta u}_i \widetilde{\Delta u}_j \widetilde{\Delta u}_k \widetilde{\Delta u}_\ell, \qquad (232)$$

where

$$\frac{\partial^{3} F_{*}}{\partial u^{i} \partial u^{j} \partial u^{k}} = \left(\delta_{ij} \widetilde{\Theta}_{k} + \delta_{jk} \widetilde{\Theta}_{i} + \delta_{ki} \widetilde{\Theta}_{j}\right) \times \left(\lambda \frac{\|\Theta\|^{2}}{(\Theta^{0})^{2}} + \cdots\right) + \widetilde{\Theta}_{i} \widetilde{\Theta}_{j} \widetilde{\Theta}_{k} \times \left(-3\lambda \frac{\|\Theta\|^{2}}{(\Theta^{0})^{4}} + \cdots\right), \quad (233)$$

$$\frac{\partial^{4} F_{*}}{\partial u^{i} \partial u^{j} \partial u^{k} \partial u^{\ell}} = \left(\delta_{ij} \delta_{k\ell} + \delta_{jk} \delta_{i\ell} + \delta_{ki} \delta_{j\ell}\right) \\
\times \left(\frac{\lambda \|\Theta\|^{3}}{(\Theta^{0})^{2}} + \cdots\right) \\
- \left(\delta_{ij} \widetilde{\Theta}_{k} \widetilde{\Theta}_{\ell} + \delta_{jk} \widetilde{\Theta}_{i} \widetilde{\Theta}_{\ell} \\
+ \delta_{ki} \widetilde{\Theta}_{j} \widetilde{\Theta}_{\ell} + \delta_{i\ell} \widetilde{\Theta}_{j} \widetilde{\Theta}_{k} \\
+ \delta_{j\ell} \widetilde{\Theta}_{i} \widetilde{\Theta}_{k} + \delta_{k\ell} \widetilde{\Theta}_{i} \widetilde{\Theta}_{j}\right) \\
\times \left(\frac{3\lambda \|\Theta\|^{3}}{(\Theta^{0})^{4}} + \cdots\right) \\
+ \widetilde{\Theta}_{i} \widetilde{\Theta}_{j} \widetilde{\Theta}_{k} \widetilde{\Theta}_{\ell} \left(\frac{15\lambda \|\Theta\|^{3}}{(\Theta^{0})^{6}} + \cdots\right), \tag{234}$$

Because our Hessian takes the form

$$M_{ij} = A\delta_{ij} + B\Theta_i\Theta_j, \tag{235}$$

with

$$A = -\lambda \|\Theta\| \left(1 + \frac{n+1}{\lambda \|\Theta\|} + \cdots\right),$$

$$B = \lambda \frac{\|\Theta\|}{(\Theta^{0})^{2}} \left(1 + \frac{n+1}{\lambda \|\Theta\|} \frac{\Theta^{2}}{(\Theta^{0})^{2}} + \cdots\right),$$
(236)

we obtain

$$M_{kl}R_{ki}R_{lj} = A\delta_{ij} + B\widetilde{\Theta}_i\widetilde{\Theta}_j, \qquad (237)$$

where $\widetilde{\Theta}_i := \Theta_j R_{ji}$, that is, $\Theta_i = R_{ij} \widetilde{\Theta}_j$. In particular,

$$\widetilde{\Theta}_{k} = \begin{cases} 0 & (k \neq d), \\ \sqrt{\Theta^{2}} & (k = d). \end{cases}$$
(238)

Then we get

$$\frac{\widetilde{\partial^3 F_*}}{\partial u^i \partial u^j \partial u^k} \widetilde{\Delta u}_i \widetilde{\Delta u}_j \widetilde{\Delta u}_k$$

Deringer

$$= 3 \left(\widetilde{\Delta u}_{\perp}^{2} + \widetilde{\Delta u}_{\parallel}^{2} \right) \widetilde{\Delta u}_{\parallel} \sqrt{\Theta^{2}} \left(\lambda \frac{\|\Theta\|^{2}}{(\Theta^{0})^{2}} + \cdots \right)$$
$$+ \widetilde{\Delta u}_{\parallel}^{3} \left(\Theta^{2} \right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \left(-3\lambda \frac{\|\Theta\|^{2}}{(\Theta^{0})^{4}} + \cdots \right), \qquad (239)$$
$$\widetilde{\partial^{4} E}$$

$$\frac{\partial^{4} F_{*}}{\partial u^{i} \partial u^{j} \partial u^{k} \partial u^{\ell}} \widetilde{\Delta u_{i}} \widetilde{\Delta u_{j}} \widetilde{\Delta u_{k}} \widetilde{\Delta u_{\ell}}$$

$$= 3 \left(\widetilde{\Delta u}_{\perp}^{2} + \widetilde{\Delta u}_{\parallel}^{2} \right)^{2} \left(\frac{\lambda \| \Theta \|^{3}}{(\Theta^{0})^{2}} + \cdots \right)$$

$$- 6 \left(\widetilde{\Delta u}_{\perp}^{2} + \widetilde{\Delta u}_{\parallel}^{2} \right) \widetilde{\Delta u}_{\parallel}^{2} \Theta^{2} \left(\frac{3\lambda \| \Theta \|^{3}}{(\Theta^{0})^{4}} + \cdots \right)$$

$$+ \widetilde{\Delta u}_{\parallel}^{4} \left(\Theta^{2} \right)^{2} \left(\frac{15\lambda \| \Theta \|^{3}}{(\Theta^{0})^{6}} + \cdots \right), \qquad (240)$$

where we have decomposed $\widetilde{\Delta u} = \widetilde{\Delta u}_{\perp} + \widetilde{\Delta u}_{\parallel}$ with

$$\widetilde{\Delta \boldsymbol{u}}_{\perp} := \begin{bmatrix} \widetilde{\Delta \boldsymbol{u}}_{1} \\ \vdots \\ \widetilde{\Delta \boldsymbol{u}}_{d-1} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \widetilde{\Delta \boldsymbol{u}}_{\parallel} := \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \\ \widetilde{\Delta \boldsymbol{u}}_{\parallel} \end{bmatrix}, \quad (241)$$

and used

$$\widetilde{\Delta u}^2 = \widetilde{\Delta u}_{\perp}^2 + \widetilde{\Delta u}_{\parallel}^2, \quad \widetilde{\Delta u} \cdot \widetilde{\Theta} = \widetilde{\Delta u}_{\parallel} \sqrt{\Theta^2}.$$
(242)

For later convenience, we define

$$I(a,b) := \int \mathrm{d}^d \,\widetilde{\Delta \boldsymbol{u}} \, e^{-\frac{1}{2}\lambda_l \,\widetilde{\Delta \boldsymbol{u}_l}^2} \left(\widetilde{\Delta \boldsymbol{u}}_{\perp}^2\right)^a \left(\widetilde{\Delta \boldsymbol{u}}_{\parallel}^2\right)^b.$$
(243)

The result is

$$I(2,0) = \left(\frac{2\pi}{\lambda_{\perp}}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \sqrt{\frac{2\pi}{\lambda_{\parallel}}} \frac{d^2 - 1}{\lambda_{\perp}^2},$$

$$I(2,1) = \left(\frac{2\pi}{\lambda_{\perp}}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \sqrt{\frac{2\pi}{\lambda_{\parallel}}} \frac{d^2 - 1}{\lambda_{\perp}^2} \frac{1}{\lambda_{\parallel}},$$

$$I(1,1) = \left(\frac{2\pi}{\lambda_{\perp}}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \sqrt{\frac{2\pi}{\lambda_{\parallel}}} \frac{d - 1}{\lambda_{\perp}^2},$$
(244)

$$I(1, 1) = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_{\perp} \end{pmatrix} \quad \sqrt{\lambda_{\parallel}} \quad \lambda_{\perp} \lambda_{\parallel},$$

$$I(1, 2) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{2\pi}{\lambda_{\perp}} \end{pmatrix}^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \sqrt{\frac{2\pi}{\lambda_{\parallel}}} \frac{d-1}{\lambda_{\perp}} \frac{3}{\lambda_{\parallel}^{2}},$$
 (245)

$$I(0,2) = \left(\frac{2\pi}{\lambda_{\perp}}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \sqrt{\frac{2\pi}{\lambda_{\parallel}}} \frac{3}{\lambda_{\parallel}^2},$$

$$I(0,3) = \left(\frac{2\pi}{\lambda_{\perp}}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \sqrt{\frac{2\pi}{\lambda_{\parallel}}} \frac{15}{\lambda_{\parallel}^3},$$
 (246)

where we have used, say,

$$I(2,0) = \int \left(\prod_{i=1}^{d-1} \mathrm{d}x_i \right) \mathrm{d}y \, e^{-\frac{1}{2} \left(\lambda_\perp \sum_j x_j^2 + \lambda_\parallel y^2 \right)} \\ \times \left(\sum_{k=1}^{d-1} x_k^4 + \sum_{k \neq \ell} x_k^2 x_\ell^2 \right),$$
(247)

as well as the one-dimensional integrals: $\int dx \, e^{-\frac{\lambda}{2}x^2} x^2 = \frac{\sqrt{2\pi}}{\lambda^{3/2}}$, $\int dx \, e^{-\frac{\lambda}{2}x^2} x^4 = \frac{3\sqrt{2\pi}}{\lambda^{5/2}}$, and $\int dx \, e^{-\frac{\lambda}{2}x^2} x^6 = \frac{15\sqrt{2\pi}}{\lambda^{1/2}}$. In the expansion (221), the cubic and quintic integrals vanish, while the quartic and hexic ones become

$$\begin{split} \int d^{d} \widetilde{\Delta u} \, e^{-\frac{1}{2}\lambda_{l}\widetilde{\Delta u_{l}}^{2}} \frac{\widetilde{\partial^{4}F_{*}}}{\partial u^{i}\partial u^{j}\partial u^{k}\partial u^{\ell}} \widetilde{\Delta u_{i}}\widetilde{\Delta u_{j}}\widetilde{\Delta u_{k}}\widetilde{\Delta u_{\ell}} \\ &= \frac{3\lambda \|\Theta\|^{3}}{\left(\Theta^{0}\right)^{2}} \left(I(2,0) + 2I(1,1) + I(0,2)\right) \\ &- \frac{6\Theta^{2}}{\left(\Theta^{0}\right)^{2}} \left(I(1,1) + I(0,2)\right) + \frac{5\left(\Theta^{2}\right)^{2}}{\left(\Theta^{0}\right)^{4}} I(0,2)\right) + \cdots \\ &= \left(\frac{2\pi}{\lambda_{\perp}}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \sqrt{\frac{2\pi}{\lambda_{\parallel}}} \frac{3\lambda \|\Theta\|^{3}}{\left(\Theta^{0}\right)^{2}} \left[\left(\frac{d^{2}-1}{\lambda_{\perp}^{2}} + \frac{2\left(d-1\right)}{\lambda_{\perp}\lambda_{\parallel}} + \frac{3}{\lambda_{\parallel}^{2}}\right) \\ &- \frac{6\Theta^{2}}{\left(\Theta^{0}\right)^{2}} \left(\frac{d-1}{\lambda_{\perp}\lambda_{\parallel}} + \frac{3}{\lambda_{\parallel}^{2}}\right) + \frac{\left(\Theta^{2}\right)^{2}}{\left(\Theta^{0}\right)^{4}} \frac{15}{\lambda_{\parallel}^{2}} + \cdots \right], \end{split}$$
(248)
$$\\ \int d^{d} \widetilde{\Delta u} \, e^{-\frac{1}{2}\lambda_{l}\widetilde{\Delta u_{l}}^{2}} \left(\frac{\widetilde{\partial^{3}F_{*}}}{\partial u^{i}\partial u^{j}\partial u^{k}} \widetilde{\Delta u_{l}} \widetilde{\Delta u_{j}} \widetilde{\Delta u_{k}} \right)^{2} \\ &= 9\Theta^{2}\lambda^{2} \frac{\|\Theta\|^{4}}{\left(\Theta^{0}\right)^{4}} \left(I(2,1) \right) \\ &+ 2\frac{\|\Theta\|^{2}}{\left(\Theta^{0}\right)^{2}} I(1,2) + \frac{\|\Theta\|^{4}}{\left(\Theta^{0}\right)^{4}} I(0,3) \right) + \cdots \\ &= 9\Theta^{2}\lambda^{2} \left(\frac{2\pi}{\lambda_{\perp}}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \sqrt{\frac{2\pi}{\lambda_{\parallel}}} \frac{\|\Theta\|^{4}}{\left(\Theta^{0}\right)^{4}} \left(\frac{d^{2}-1}{\lambda_{\perp}^{2}\lambda_{\parallel}} \\ &+ 2\frac{\|\Theta\|^{2}}{\left(\Theta^{0}\right)^{2}} \frac{3\left(d-1\right)}{\lambda_{\perp}\lambda_{\parallel}^{2}}} + \frac{\|\Theta\|^{4}}{\left(\Theta^{0}\right)^{4}} \frac{15}{\lambda_{\parallel}^{3}} \right) + \cdots \end{cases}$$
(249)

As said above, $\frac{\partial^6 F_*}{\partial u^i \partial u^j \partial u^k \partial u^l \partial u^m \partial u^n} \Delta u_i \Delta u_j \Delta u_k \Delta u_l \Delta u_m \Delta u_n$ is $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^{-2})$ and does not contribute to the order of our interest. Concretely, the eigenvalues of M are (d-1)-fold degenerate $-\lambda_{\perp}$ and a single $-\lambda_{\parallel}$, where

$$\lambda_{\perp} := \lambda \|\Theta\| \left[1 + \frac{n+1}{\lambda \|\Theta\|} + \cdots \right]$$

for $\lambda^{(n)}$ with $n = 1, \dots, d-1$, (250)
$$\lambda_{\parallel} := \lambda \frac{\|\Theta\|^3}{(\Theta^0)^2} \left[1 + \frac{n+1}{\lambda \|\Theta\|} \left(1 + \frac{\Theta^2}{(\Theta^0)^2} \right) + \cdots \right]$$

for $\lambda^{(n)}$ with $n = d$. (251)

Keeping the lowest order terms for large λ in Eq. (248), we get

$$\int d^{d} \widetilde{\Delta u} \, e^{-\frac{1}{2}\lambda_{l}\widetilde{\Delta u_{l}}^{2}} \frac{\widetilde{\partial^{4}F_{*}}}{\partial u^{i}\partial u^{j}\partial u^{k}\partial u^{\ell}} \widetilde{\Delta u}_{i}\widetilde{\Delta u}_{j}\widetilde{\Delta u}_{k}\widetilde{\Delta u}_{\ell}$$

$$= \left(\frac{2\pi}{\lambda \|\Theta\|}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}} \frac{3\Theta^{0}}{\lambda} (d+2) \left(\frac{d+4}{(\Theta^{0})^{2}} - \frac{4}{\|\Theta\|^{2}}\right) + \cdots,$$
(252)
$$\int d^{d}\widetilde{\Delta u} \, e^{-\frac{1}{2}\lambda_{l}\widetilde{\Delta u_{l}}^{2}} \left(\frac{\widetilde{\partial^{3}F_{*}}}{\partial u^{i}\partial u^{j}\partial u^{k}}\widetilde{\Delta u}_{i}\widetilde{\Delta u}_{j}\widetilde{\Delta u}_{k}\right)^{2}$$

$$= \left(\frac{2\pi}{\lambda \|\Theta\|}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}} 9(d+2)(d+4) \frac{\Theta^{2}}{\|\Theta\|^{2}} \frac{1}{\lambda\Theta^{0}} + \cdots.$$
(253)

To summarize,

$$\mathcal{I}_{(n)} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{2\pi}{\lambda \|\Theta\|} \right)^{\frac{d}{2}} e^{-\lambda \|\Theta\|} \left(\frac{\|\Theta\|}{\Theta^0} \right)^n \\ \times \left[1 + \frac{1}{\lambda \|\Theta\|} \left(\frac{d (d-2)}{8} \right)^n + \frac{n}{2} \left(-d + (n+1) \frac{\Theta^2}{(\Theta^0)^2} \right) + \cdots \right], \quad (254)$$

and hence

$$\frac{1}{\mathcal{I}_{(0)}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{I}_{(n)}}{\lambda \partial \Theta^{i}} = \frac{\Theta_{i}}{\|\Theta\|} \left(\frac{\|\Theta\|}{\Theta^{0}}\right)^{n} \left[1 + \frac{1}{2\lambda \|\Theta\|} \left(d - n \left(d + 2\right)\right) + n \left(n + 1\right) \frac{\Theta^{2}}{\left(\Theta^{0}\right)^{2}} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\lambda^{2}}\right)\right], \quad (255)$$

$$\frac{1}{\mathcal{I}_{(0)}} \frac{\partial^{-}\mathcal{L}_{(n)}}{\lambda^{2} \partial \Theta^{i} \partial \Theta^{j}} = \left(\frac{\|\Theta\|}{\Theta^{0}}\right)^{n} \left[\frac{\Theta_{i} \Theta_{j}}{\|\Theta\|^{2}} + \frac{1}{\lambda \|\Theta\|} \times \left\{\delta_{ij} + \frac{\Theta_{i} \Theta_{j}}{\|\Theta\|^{2}} \left[d + 1\right] - \frac{n}{2} \left(d + 4 - (n + 1) \frac{\Theta^{2}}{(\Theta^{0})^{2}}\right)\right] + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\lambda^{2}}\right), \quad (256)$$

where we used

$$\frac{\partial \|\Theta\|}{\partial \Theta^{i}} = \frac{\partial \sqrt{(\Theta^{0})^{2} - \Theta^{2}}}{\partial \Theta^{i}} = -\frac{\Theta^{i}}{\|\Theta\|}.$$
(257)

B.3.2 Non-relativistic expansion without using saddle-point method

Instead of using the saddle-point method, we may obtain the integral (209) by the non-relativistic expansion, which provides a non-trivial consistency check.

In the non-relativistic limit $\Re \Xi^0 \gg |\Re \Xi| \ge 0$, the dominant contribution to the integral would be from the non-relativistic velocity $|u| \ll 1$:

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{I}_{(n)}(\Xi) &= \int \frac{d^{d} \boldsymbol{u}}{2u^{0}} e^{\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \Xi} \frac{1}{\left(u^{0}\right)^{n}} \\ &= \int \frac{d^{d} \boldsymbol{u}}{2u^{0}} e^{\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \Xi} \left(1 - \frac{n}{2} \boldsymbol{u}^{2} + \frac{n \left(n + 2\right)}{8} \left(\boldsymbol{u}^{2}\right)^{2} + \cdots\right) \right) \\ &= \mathcal{I}(\|\Xi\|) - \frac{n}{2} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial \Xi^{i} \partial \Xi^{i}} \mathcal{I}(\|\Xi\|) \\ &+ \frac{n \left(n + 2\right)}{8} \frac{\partial^{4}}{\partial \Xi^{i} \partial \Xi^{j} \partial \Xi^{j} \partial \Xi^{j}} \mathcal{I}(\|\Xi\|) + \cdots \\ &= \left(2\pi\right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \frac{K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{\|\Xi\|^{\frac{d-1}{2}}} \left[1 - \frac{n}{2} \left(\frac{d K_{\frac{d+1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{\|\Xi\| K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)} + \frac{\Xi^{2} K_{\frac{d+3}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{\|\Xi\|^{2} K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}\right) + \cdots\right], \end{split}$$
(258)

where we used

$$\frac{\partial \|\Xi\|}{\partial \Xi^{i}} = -\frac{\Xi_{i}}{\|\Xi\|}, \quad \frac{\partial^{2} \|\Xi\|}{\partial \Xi^{i} \partial \Xi^{j}} = -\frac{\delta_{ij}}{\|\Xi\|} - \frac{\Xi_{i} \Xi_{j}}{\|\Xi\|^{3}}.$$
 (259)

In the above, the Ξ^0 are written in terms of $\|\Xi\|$ and Ξ .

Now we show results in the non-relativistic expansion with large $\|\Xi\|$, leaving the overall function that cancels out in $\frac{1}{\mathcal{I}_{(0)}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{I}_{(n)}}{\partial \Xi^i}$, etc.:

$$\mathcal{I}_{(n)} = (2\pi)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \frac{K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{\|\Xi\|^{\frac{d-1}{2}}} \times \left(1 - \frac{dn}{2\|\Xi\|} + \cdots\right),$$
(260)
$$\partial \mathcal{I}_{(n)} = (2\pi)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \frac{K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{\Xi_{i}} \Xi_{i}$$

$$\frac{\partial \Xi^{i}}{\partial \Xi^{i}} = (2\pi)^{-2} \frac{1}{\|\Xi\|^{\frac{d-1}{2}}} \|\Xi\|}{\times \left(1 + \frac{d - n (d+2)}{2\|\Xi\|} + \cdots\right)},$$
(261)

$$\frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{I}_{(n)}}{\partial \Xi^{i} \partial \Xi^{j}} = (2\pi)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \frac{K_{\frac{d-1}{2}}(\|\Xi\|)}{\|\Xi\|^{\frac{d-1}{2}}} \frac{1}{\|\Xi\|} \bigg[\delta_{ij} + \frac{1}{\|\Xi\|} \bigg(\frac{d-n (d+2)}{2} \delta_{ij} + \Xi_{i} \Xi_{j} \bigg) + \cdots \bigg].$$
(262)

As a cross check, we put $\Xi = \lambda \Theta$ and take the saddlepoint limit for large λ :

$$\frac{1}{\mathcal{I}_{(0)}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{I}_{(n)}}{\partial \partial \Theta^{i}} = \frac{\Theta_{i}}{\|\Theta\|} \left[1 + \frac{d - n (d + 2)}{2\lambda \|\Theta\|} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\lambda^{2}}\right) \right],$$
(263)

1 $\partial^{2} \mathcal{I}_{(n)}$

$$\overline{\mathcal{I}_{(0)}} \overline{\lambda^2 \partial \Theta^i \partial \Theta^j} = \frac{\Theta_i \Theta_j}{\|\Theta\|^2} + \frac{1}{\lambda \|\Theta\|} \left(\delta_{ij} + \frac{\Theta_i \Theta_j}{\|\Theta\|^2} \left(d + 1 - \frac{n}{2} \left(d + 4 \right) \right) \right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\lambda^2}\right).$$
(264)

We can confirm that these results coincide with the saddlepoint ones (255) and (256) if we take the NR limit $\frac{\|\Theta\|}{\Theta^0} \rightarrow 1$ and $\frac{\Theta^2}{(\Theta^0)^2} \rightarrow 0$ there.

References

- 1. S. Weinberg, *The Quantum Theory of Fields. Vol. 1: Foundations* (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2005)
- K. Ishikawa, K. Nishiwaki, K.-y. Oda, New effect in wave-packet scatterings of quantum fields: saddle points, Lefschetz thimbles, and Stokes phenomenon. arXiv:2102.12032
- K. Ishikawa, T. Shimomura, Generalized S-matrix in mixed representations. Prog. Theor. Phys. 114, 1201–1234 (2006). arXiv:hep-ph/0508303
- K. Ishikawa, K.-Y. Oda, Particle decay in Gaussian wavepacket formalism revisited. PTEP 2018(12), 123B01 (2018). arXiv:1809.04285
- K. Ishikawa, K. Nishiwaki, K.-y. Oda, Scalar scattering amplitude in Gaussian wave-packet formalism. arXiv:2006.14159
- G. Kaiser, Phase space approach to relativistic quantum mechanics. 1. Coherent state representation for massive scalar particles. J. Math. Phys. 18, 952–959 (1977)
- G.R. Kaiser, Phase space approach to relativistic quantum mechanics. 2. Geometrical aspects. J. Math. Phys. 19, 502–507 (1978)
- S.T. Ali, Stochastic localization, quantum mechanics on phase space and quantum space-time. Riv. Nuovo Cim. 8N11, 1–128 (1985)
- A. Mostafazadeh, F. Zamani, Quantum mechanics of Klein– Gordon fields. II. Relativistic coherent states. Ann. Phys. 321, 2210–2241 (2006). arXiv:quant-ph/0602161

- K. Kowalski, J. Rembieliński, J.P. Gazeau, On the coherent states for a relativistic scalar particle. Ann. Phys. **399**, 204–223 (2018). arXiv:1903.07312
- T.D. Newton, E.P. Wigner, Localized states for elementary systems. Rev. Mod. Phys. 21, 400–406 (1949)
- A.S. Wightman, On the localizability of quantum mechanical systems. Rev. Mod. Phys. 34, 845–872 (1962)
- G.C. Hegerfeldt, Remark on causality and particle localization. Phys. Rev. D 10, 3320 (1974)
- G.C. Hegerfeldt, S.N.M. Ruijsenaars, Remarks on causality, localization and spreading of wave packets. Phys. Rev. D 22, 377 (1980)
- A.J. Kálnay, The localization problem. In: *Problems in the Foundations of Physics*, ed. by M. Bunge vol. 4, ch. 7 (Springer Science & Business Media, 2013), pp. 93–110
- D.V. Naumov, V.A. Naumov, A diagrammatic treatment of neutrino oscillations. J. Phys. G37, 105014 (2010). arXiv:1008.0306
- D. Naumov, V. Naumov, Quantum field theory of neutrino oscillations. Phys. Part. Nucl. 51(1), 1–106 (2020)
- M. Al-Hashimi, U.-J. Wiese, Minimal position-velocity uncertainty wave packets in relativistic and non-relativistic quantum mechanics. Ann. Phys. 324, 2599–2621 (2009). arXiv:0907.5178
- S. Korenblit, D. Taychenachev, M. Petropavlova, Interpolating wave packets and composite wave functions in QFT and neutrino oscillation problem. arXiv:1712.06641
- D.A. Kosower, B. Maybee, D. O'Connell, Amplitudes, observables, and classical scattering. JHEP 02, 137 (2019). arXiv:1811.10950
- K. Fujikawa, Phase operator for the photon field and an index theorem. Phys. Rev. A 52, 3299–3307 (1995). arXiv:hep-th/9411066
- K. Fujikawa, L.C. Kwek, C.H. Oh, Q deformed oscillator algebra and an index theorem for the photon phase operator. Mod. Phys. Lett. A 10, 2543–2552 (1995). arXiv:hep-th/9504136
- H.-H. Zhang, K.-X. Feng, S.-W. Qiu, A. Zhao, X.-S. Li, On analytic formulas of Feynman propagators in position space. Chin. Phys. C 34, 1576–1582 (2010). arXiv:0811.1261
- E.C.G. Sudarshan, Equivalence of semiclassical and quantum mechanical descriptions of statistical light beams. Phys. Rev. Lett. 10, 277 (1963)
- R.J. Glauber, Coherent and incoherent states of the radiation field. Phys. Rev. Lett. 131, 2766 (1963)
- D.V. Naumov, On the theory of wave packets. Phys. Part. Nucl. Lett. 10, 642–650 (2013). arXiv:1309.1717
- F. Debbasch, J.-P. Rivet, W. Van Leeuwen, Invariance of the relativistic one-particle distribution function. Phys. A **301**, 181 (2001). arXiv:0707.2499
- N. Daiju, K.-Y. Oda, Relativity for games. PTEP 2017, 113J01 (2017). arXiv:1703.07063
- I.S. Gradshteyn, I.M. Ryzhik, *Table of Integrals, Series, and Prod*ucts, 7th edn. (Academic Press, Amsterdam, 2007)